JUNIPER NETWORKS INC

Form 10-Q

November 10, 2014

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549 FORM 10-Q

(Mark One)

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT

For the quarterly period ended September 30, 2014

or

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT

o OF 1934

For the transition period from\_\_\_\_\_\_ to\_\_\_\_\_

Commission file number: 001-34501

JUNIPER NETWORKS, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 77-0422528

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or

organization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

1194 North Mathilda Avenue

Sunnyvale, California 94089 (Address of principal executive offices) (Zip code)

(408) 745-2000

(Registrant's telephone number, including area code)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes x No o Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes x No o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer" and "smaller reporting company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer x Accelerated filer o Non-accelerated filer o Smaller reporting company o

(Do not check if a smaller reporting company)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes o No x

There were 432,568,783 shares of the Company's Common Stock, par value \$0.00001, outstanding as of November 7, 2014.

Juniper Networks, Inc. Table of Contents

## PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements	Page 3
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2014 and September 30, 2013	<u>3</u>
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2014 and September 30, 2013	<u>4</u>
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013	<u>5</u>
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Nine Months Ended September 30, 2014 and September 30, 2013	<u>6</u>
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements	7
Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	<u>35</u>
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	<u>51</u>
Item 4. Controls and Procedures	<u>51</u>
PART II - OTHER INFORMATION	
Item 1. Legal Proceedings	<u>52</u>
Item 1A. Risk Factors	<u>52</u>
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds	<u>66</u>
Item 6. Exhibits	<u>67</u>
<u>SIGNATURES</u>	<u>68</u>
Exhibit Index	<u>69</u>
2	

## **Table of Contents**

## PART I — FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

Juniper Networks, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In millions, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended September		-	
,		•	
2014	2013	2014	2013
			\$2,546.4
			849.1
1,125.9	1,185.6	3,525.5	3,395.5
290.0	325.5	975.9	925.0
121.1	113.6	366.5	332.7
411.1	439.1	1,342.4	1,257.7
714.8	746.5	2,183.1	2,137.8
253.2	264.6	772.7	784.5
249.2	269.5	780.6	792.7
55.0	61.4	190.5	169.1
(15.0	) 6.0	157.2	21.0
542.4	601.5	1,901.0	1,767.3
172.4	145.0	282.1	370.5
(6.8	) (7.5	326.0	(30.2)
165.6	137.5	608.1	340.3
62.0	38.4	172.8	52.3
\$103.6	\$99.1	\$435.3	\$288.0
\$0.23	\$0.20	\$0.93	\$0.57
\$0.23	\$0.19	\$0.91	\$0.56
e:			
448.4	501.5	468.1	503.0
454.8	508.6	477.0	510.7
\$0.10	<b>\$</b> —	\$0.10	<b>\$</b> —
	30, 2014 \$809.5 316.4 1,125.9 290.0 121.1 411.1 714.8 253.2 249.2 55.0 (15.0 542.4 172.4 (6.8 165.6 62.0 \$103.6 \$0.23 \$0.23 \$0.23 \$0.23	30, 2014 2013 \$809.5 \$900.8 316.4 284.8 1,125.9 1,185.6 290.0 325.5 121.1 113.6 411.1 439.1 714.8 746.5 253.2 264.6 249.2 269.5 55.0 61.4 (15.0 ) 6.0 542.4 601.5 172.4 145.0 (6.8 ) (7.5 165.6 137.5 62.0 38.4 \$103.6 \$99.1 \$0.23 \$0.20 \$0.23 \$0.19 re: 448.4 501.5 448.4 501.5 62.6 63.6	30, 2014 2013 2014  \$809.5 \$900.8 \$2,614.7 316.4 284.8 910.8 1,125.9 1,185.6 3,525.5  290.0 325.5 975.9 121.1 113.6 366.5 411.1 439.1 1,342.4 714.8 746.5 2,183.1  253.2 264.6 772.7 249.2 269.5 780.6 55.0 61.4 190.5 (15.0 ) 6.0 157.2 542.4 601.5 1,901.0 172.4 145.0 282.1 (6.8 ) (7.5 ) 326.0 165.6 137.5 608.1 62.0 38.4 172.8 \$103.6 \$99.1 \$435.3  \$0.23 \$0.20 \$0.93 \$0.23 \$0.19 \$0.91 re: 448.4 501.5 468.1 454.8 508.6 477.0

See accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

## Table of Contents

Juniper Networks, Inc.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

(In millions)

(Unaudited)

	Three Months Ended September 30,		Nine Months E	nded September	
	2014	2013	2014	2013	
Net income	\$103.6	\$99.1	\$435.3	\$288.0	
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax:					
Available-for-sale securities:					
Unrealized (losses) gains on available-for-sale					
securities, net of tax benefit (provision) of					
\$2.0		\	44.0	<b>-</b> 0.0	
and (\$26.2) during the three and nine months	(4.4	) 65.2	44.0	70.8	
ended September 30, 2014, respectively, and					
(\$36.4) and (\$40.4) for the corresponding periods of fiscal 2013, respectively					
Reclassification adjustment for realized net					
(gains) on available-for-sale securities					
included					
in net income, net of tax provision of \$0.1 and	l				
\$60.5 during the three and nine months ended	(0.2	) (0.3	(104.0	) (0.8	)
September 30, 2014, respectively, and \$0.1					
and					
\$0.3 for the corresponding periods of fiscal					
2013, respectively					
Unrealized (losses) gains on available-for-sale	(4.6	) 64.9	(60.0	) 70.0	
securities during the period, net of taxes Cash flow hedges:					
Unrealized (losses) gains on cash flow hedges,					
net					
of tax (provision) benefit of zero and (\$1.3)					
during the three and nine months ended	(2.0	. 0.7	0.4	(1.0	`
September 30, 2014, respectively, and \$1.1	(2.8	) 0.7	0.4	(1.8	)
and					
\$2.4 for the corresponding periods of fiscal					
2013, respectively					
Reclassification adjustment for realized net	_				
(gains) losses on cash flow hedges included ir net income, net of tax provision (benefit) of	1				
\$0.5					
and \$0.8 during the three and nine months					
ended	(1.0	) 0.6	(4.2	) (0.9	)
September 30, 2014, respectively, and (\$0.8)					
and					
(\$0.3) for the corresponding periods of fiscal					
2013, respectively					
Unrealized (losses) gains on cash flow hedges	(3.8	) 1.3	(3.8	) (2.7	)
during the period, net of taxes	`	,			,

Change in foreign currency translation adjustments	(7.7	) 4.1	(3.8	) (5.4	)
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax	(16.1	) 70.3	(67.6	) 61.9	
Comprehensive income	\$87.5	\$169.4	\$367.7	\$349.9	

See accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

## Table of Contents

Juniper Networks, Inc. Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets (In millions, except par values)

A COETTO	September 30, 2014 (Unaudited)	December 31, 2013
ASSETS Current assets:		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$1,615.9	\$2.284.0
Short-term investments	299.5	\$2,284.0 561.9
Accounts receivable, net of allowances	617.0	578.3
Deferred tax assets, net	157.5	79.8
Prepaid expenses and other current assets	206.5	199.9
Assets held for sale	166.9	199.9
Total current assets	3,063.3	3,703.9
Property and equipment, net	888.8	882.3
Long-term investments	1,405.6	1,251.9
Restricted cash and investments	45.9	89.5
Purchased intangible assets, net	90.8	106.9
Goodwill	3,911.7	4,057.7
Other long-term assets	162.9	233.8
Total assets	\$9,569.0	\$10,326.0
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY	Ψ>,00>.0	Ψ 10,6 <b>2</b> 0.0
Current liabilities:		
Accounts payable	\$242.2	\$200.4
Accrued compensation	193.3	273.9
Deferred revenue	728.4	705.8
Other accrued liabilities	244.6	261.3
Liabilities held for sale	40.5	_
Total current liabilities	1,449.0	1,441.4
Long-term debt	1,348.9	999.3
Long-term deferred revenue	345.6	363.5
Long-term income taxes payable	154.2	114.4
Other long-term liabilities	80.9	105.2
Total liabilities	3,378.6	3,023.8
Commitments and contingencies (Note 17)		
Stockholders' equity:		
Convertible preferred stock, \$0.00001 par value; 10.0 shares authorized; none issued and outstanding	_	_
Common stock, \$0.00001 par value; 1,000.0 shares authorized; 438.1 shares and	d	
495.2 shares issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2014 and December		
31,	<del></del>	<del></del>
2013, respectively		
Additional paid-in capital	9,157.1	9,868.9
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income	(3.0	) 64.6
Accumulated deficit	(2,963.7	) (2,631.3
Total stockholders' equity	6,190.4	7,302.2
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity	\$9,569.0	\$10,326.0

See accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

## Table of Contents

Juniper Networks, Inc.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In millions)

(Unaudited)

	Nine Months Ended September 30		30,
	2014	2013	
Cash flows from operating activities:			
Net income	\$435.3	\$288.0	
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating			
activities:			
Share-based compensation expense	185.4	180.7	
Depreciation, amortization, and accretion	141.9	135.2	
Restructuring and other (credit) charges	179.4	28.6	
Deferred income taxes	(85.4	) 40.4	
Gain on investments, net	(165.1	) (7.8	)
Gain on legal settlement, net	(121.1	) —	
Excess tax benefits from share-based compensation	(8.8)	) (1.5	)
Loss on disposal of fixed assets	1.9	1.2	
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisitions:			
Accounts receivable, net	(33.2	) (111.0	)
Prepaid expenses and other assets	(29.4	) (67.0	)
Accounts payable	47.4	(1.1	)
Accrued compensation	(78.3	) (88.6	)
Income taxes payable	86.1	(26.1	)
Other accrued liabilities	(124.5	) (16.8	)
Deferred revenue	40.9	97.7	
Net cash provided by operating activities	472.5	451.9	
Cash flows from investing activities:			
Purchases of property and equipment	(140.9	) (183.0	)
Purchases of available-for-sale investments	(1,970.5	) (1,351.6	)
Proceeds from sales of available-for-sale investments	1,918.7	860.4	
Proceeds from maturities of available-for-sale investments	339.0	287.6	
Purchases of trading investments	(3.5	) (3.1	)
Proceeds from sales of privately-held investments	2.5	8.4	
Purchases of privately-held investments	(12.3	) (20.4	)
Payments for business acquisitions, net of cash and cash equivalents acquired	(27.1	) (10.0	)
Purchase of licensed software	_	(10.0	)
Changes in restricted cash	45.0	_	
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities	150.9	(421.7	)
Cash flows from financing activities:			
Proceeds from issuance of common stock	157.6	123.7	
Purchases and retirement of common stock	(1,761.0	) (332.1	)
Issuance of long-term debt, net	346.5	_	
Payment for capital lease obligation	(0.4	) (1.4	)
Customer financing arrangements	0.8	41.8	
Excess tax benefits from share-based compensation	8.8	1.5	
Payment of cash dividends	(43.8	) —	
Net cash used in financing activities	(1,291.5	) (166.5	)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents	(668.1	) (136.3	)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	2,284.0	2,407.8
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	\$1,615.9	\$2,271.5

See accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

#### **Table of Contents**

Juniper Networks, Inc. Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 1. Basis of Presentation

#### **Basis of Presentation**

The unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements of Juniper Networks, Inc. (the "Company" or "Juniper") have been prepared in accordance with United States ("U.S.") generally accepted accounting principles ("U.S. GAAP") for interim financial information. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by U.S. GAAP for complete financial statements. The Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2013, is derived from the audited Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2013. In the opinion of management, all adjustments, including normal recurring accruals, considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included. The results of operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014, are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year ending December 31, 2014, or any future period. The information included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q ("Report") should be read in conjunction with "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations," "Risk Factors," "Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk," and the Consolidated Financial Statements and footnotes thereto included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013. Certain amounts in the prior year Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements contained in this Report have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.

The preparation of the financial statements and related disclosures in accordance with U.S. GAAP requires the Company to make judgments, assumptions, and estimates that affect the amounts reported in the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and the accompanying notes. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

In the first quarter of 2014, the Company announced an integrated operating plan ("IOP") to refocus the Company's strategy, optimize its structure, and improve operational efficiencies. In connection with the IOP, the Company realigned its organization into a One-Juniper structure which includes consolidating the Company's R&D and go-to-market functions to reduce complexity, increase clarity of responsibilities, and improve efficiency. As a result of these changes, the Company's consolidated business is considered to be one reportable segment. Future organizational changes, if any, could impact how the chief operating decision maker ("CODM") allocates resources and assesses performance. In fiscal 2013, the Company operated under two reportable segments: Platform Systems Division ("PSD") and Software Solutions Division ("SSD"). This change did not impact previously reported consolidated results of operations. See Note 14, Segments, for further discussion of the Company's segment reorganization.

### Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

There have been no material changes to the Company's significant accounting policies compared to the accounting policies described in Note 2, Significant Accounting Policies, in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 of Part II of the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013.

## **Recent Accounting Pronouncements**

In August 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 2014-15 (Subtopic 205-40) - Presentation of Financial Statements—Going Concern: Disclosure of Uncertainties about an Entity's Ability to Continue as a Going Concern ("ASU 2014-15") which provides guidance about management's

responsibility to evaluate whether or not there is substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern and to provide related footnote disclosure. ASU 2014-15 is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2016. Early application is permitted. The adoption of this standard is not expected to have an impact on the Company's Consolidated Financial Statements.

In June 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-12 (Topic 718) - Compensation - Stock Compensation ("ASU 2014-12") which provides guidance that a performance target that affects vesting of a share-based payment and that could be achieved after the requisite service period is a performance condition. As a result, the target is not reflected in the estimation of the award's grant date fair value. Compensation cost for such an award would be recognized over the required service period, if it is probable that

Juniper Networks, Inc. Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) (Unaudited)

the performance condition will be achieved. ASU 2014-12 is effective for all entities for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2015 and interim periods within those annual periods. ASU 2014-12 should be applied on a prospective basis to awards that are granted or modified on or after the effective date. The adoption of this standard is not expected to have an impact on the Company's Consolidated Financial Statements.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09 (Topic 606)—Revenue from Contracts with Customers ("ASU 2014-09") which provides guidance for revenue recognition. This ASU affects all contracts that the Company enters into with customers to transfer goods and services or for the transfer of nonfinancial assets. This ASU will supersede the revenue recognition requirements in Topic 605, and most industry specific guidance. This ASU also supersedes some cost guidance included in Subtopic 605-35, Revenue Recognition-Construction-Type and Production-Type Contracts. The standard's core principle is that revenue is recognized when promised goods or services are transferred to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. In doing so, the Company will need to use additional judgment and estimates than under the existing guidance. These may include identifying performance obligations in the contract, estimating the amount of variable consideration to include in the transaction price and allocating the transaction price to each separate performance obligation. ASU 2014-09 is effective for annual and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2016. Early adoption is not permitted. Accordingly, the ASU will be effective for the Company beginning fiscal year 2017. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the adoption on its Consolidated Financial Statements.

In April 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-08, Presentation of Financial Statements (Topic 205) and Property, Plant, and Equipment (Topic 360): Reporting Discontinued Operations and Disclosures of Disposals of Components of an Entity ("ASU 2014-08") which raises the threshold for a disposal to qualify as a discontinued operation and requires new disclosures of both discontinued operations and certain other disposals that do not meet the definition of a discontinued operation. ASU 2014-08 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after December 15, 2014. Early adoption is permitted but only for disposals that have not been reported in financial statements previously issued. The Company has determined that this pronouncement would not have a material impact on the Company's financial position or results of operations.

### Note 3. Business Combination

On January 7, 2014, the Company acquired 100% of the equity securities of WANDL, Inc. ("WANDL"), for \$28.7 million of cash and stock consideration. WANDL, a provider of software solutions for advanced planning, management, design and optimization of next-generation multi-layer networks, provides the Company with technology and experience in traffic engineering, multi-layer optimization and path computation to help service provider customers optimize the performance and cost of their networks.

The aggregate consideration of \$28.7 million was allocated as follows: intangible assets of \$17.8 million, recognized goodwill of \$13.6 million, and net liabilities of \$2.7 million. The goodwill recognized for the acquisition of WANDL was primarily attributable to expected synergies and is not deductible for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

Additionally, under the terms of the purchase agreement, the Company assumed share-based awards for employees with a fair value of \$34.9 million, which were granted in contemplation of future services and will be expensed as share-based compensation over the remaining service period.

#### **Table of Contents**

Juniper Networks, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Unaudited)

## Intangible Assets Acquired

The following table presents details of the Company's intangible assets acquired through the business combination completed during the nine months ended September 30, 2014 (in millions, except years):

	Weighted	
	Average	
	Estimated	A manut
	Useful	Amount
	Life	
	(In Years)	
Existing technology	7	\$10.7
Customer relationships	7	6.0
Trade name	4	0.6
Backlog	1	0.2
Non-compete agreements	2	0.3
Total	7	\$17.8

The Company's Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements include the operating results of this business combination from the date of acquisition. Pro forma results of operations for this acquisition have not been presented as the financial impact to the Company's consolidated results of operations is not material.

#### Note 4. Assets Held for Sale

On July 22, 2014, the Company entered into a definitive agreement to sell its Junos® Pulse product portfolio to an affiliate of Siris Capital, a private equity firm, for approximately \$250.0 million, subject to certain working capital adjustments. The sale was completed on October 1, 2014 and the Company received total consideration of \$228.1 million, of which \$103.1 million was in cash, net of a \$21.9 million working capital adjustment, and \$125.0 million was in the form of an 18-month non-contingent interest bearing promissory note issued to the Company. The related assets and liabilities sold have been presented as held for sale in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet as of September 30, 2014. The Company's sale of the Junos Pulse product portfolio is driven by product rationalization in connection with the Company's IOP.

The following table presents the carrying value of the major components of assets and liabilities of Junos Pulse held for sale as of September 30, 2014 (in millions):

	As of
	September 30, 2014
Assets:	_
Goodwill <sup>(1)</sup>	\$159.8
Intangible assets	6.0
Other assets	1.1
Total assets held for sale	\$166.9
Liabilities:	
Deferred revenue	\$38.3
Other liabilities	2.2
Total liabilities related to assets held for sale	\$40.5

(1) Allocated goodwill is subject to final valuation to be performed in the fourth quarter of 2014.

## **Table of Contents**

Juniper Networks, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Unaudited)

Note 5. Cash Equivalents and Investments

Investments in Available-for-Sale and Trading Securities

The following tables summarize the Company's unrealized gains and losses and fair value of investments designated as available-for-sale and trading securities as of September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013 (in millions):

	Amortized Cost	Gross Unrealized Gains	Gross Unrealized Losses	Estimated Fair Value
As of September 30, 2014				
Fixed income securities:				
Asset-backed securities	\$310.3	<b>\$</b> —	\$(0.3)	\$310.0
Certificates of deposit	12.4			12.4
Commercial paper	12.9			12.9
Corporate debt securities	869.8	0.8	(0.8	869.8
Foreign government debt securities	28.4			28.4
Government-sponsored enterprise obligations	200.3	0.1	(0.2)	200.2
U.S. government securities	269.9	0.1		270.0
Total fixed income securities	1,704.0	1.0	(1.3	1,703.7
Money market funds	692.0			692.0
Mutual funds	3.8	0.1		3.9
Publicly-traded equity securities	2.4		(0.3	2.1
Total available-for-sale securities	2,402.2	1.1	(1.6	2,401.7
Trading securities in mutual funds <sup>(1)</sup>	16.7			16.7
Total	\$2,418.9	\$1.1	\$(1.6)	\$2,418.4
Reported as:				
Cash equivalents	\$668.2	<b>\$</b> —	<b>\$</b> —	\$668.2
Restricted investments	45.1	<u>.</u>	<del></del>	45.1
Short-term investments	299.5	0.3	(0.3	299.5
Long-term investments	1,406.1	0.8	(1.3)	1,405.6
Total	\$2,418.9	\$1.1	\$(1.6	\$2,418.4

<sup>(1)</sup> Balance includes the Company's non-qualified deferred compensation plan assets.

## Table of Contents

Juniper Networks, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Unaudited)

	Amortized Cost	Gross Unrealized Gains	Gross Unrealized Losses		Estimated Fair Value
As of December 31, 2013					
Fixed income securities:					
Asset-backed securities	\$249.9	\$0.1	\$(0.1	)	\$249.9
Certificates of deposit	27.6		_		27.6
Commercial paper	6.9		_		6.9
Corporate debt securities	813.6	2.0	(0.3	)	815.3
Foreign government debt securities	10.7	_	_		10.7
Government-sponsored enterprise obligations	306.2	0.1	(0.1	)	306.2
U.S. government securities	303.3	0.1	(0.1	)	303.3
Total fixed income securities	1,718.2	2.3	(0.6	)	1,719.9
Money market funds	1,043.7	_	_		1,043.7
Mutual funds	3.9	0.1	_		4.0
Publicly-traded equity securities	12.0	104.5	(1.9	)	114.6
Total available-for-sale securities	2,777.8	106.9	(2.5	)	2,882.2
Trading securities in mutual funds <sup>(1)</sup>	15.4	_			15.4
Total	\$2,793.2	\$106.9	\$(2.5	)	\$2,897.6
Reported as:					
Cash equivalents	\$996.2	<b>\$</b> —	<b>\$</b> —		\$996.2
Restricted investments	87.5	0.1			87.6
Short-term investments	459.0	104.9	(2.0	)	561.9
Long-term investments	1,250.5	1.9	(0.5	)	1,251.9
Total	\$2,793.2	\$106.9	\$(2.5	)	\$2,897.6

<sup>(1)</sup> Balance includes the Company's non-qualified deferred compensation plan assets.

The following table presents the contractual maturities of the Company's total fixed income securities as of September 30, 2014 (in millions):

	Amortized Cost	Gross Unrealized Gains	Gross Unrealized Losses	Estimated Fair Value
Due in less than one year	\$297.9	\$0.2	<b>\$</b> —	\$298.1
Due between one and five years	1,406.1	0.8	(1.3	) 1,405.6
Total	\$1,704.0	\$1.0	\$(1.3	) \$1,703.7

### **Table of Contents**

Juniper Networks, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Unaudited)

The Company had 325 and 178 investments in an unrealized loss position as of September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively. The gross unrealized losses related to these investments were primarily due to changes in market interest rates and stock prices. The Company periodically reviews its investments to identify and evaluate investments that have an indication of possible impairment. The Company aggregates its investments by category and length of time the securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position to facilitate its evaluation.

For available-for-sale debt securities that have unrealized losses, the Company evaluates whether (i) it has the intention to sell any of these investments and (ii) whether it is more likely than not that it will be required to sell any of these investments before recovery of the entire amortized cost basis. As of September 30, 2014, the Company anticipates that it will recover the entire amortized cost basis of such available-for-sale debt securities and has determined that no other-than-temporary impairments associated with credit losses were required to be recognized during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014 and September 30, 2013.

For available-for-sale equity securities that have unrealized losses, the Company evaluates whether there is an indication of other-than-temporary impairments. This determination is based on several factors, including the financial condition and near-term prospects of the issuer and the Company's intent and ability to hold the publicly-traded equity securities for a period of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery in market value. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014, the Company determined that certain available-for-sale equity securities were other-than-temporarily impaired, resulting in an impairment charge of \$1.1 million and \$2.7 million, respectively that were recorded within other (expense) income, net, in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations. There were no such charges during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2014, gross realized gains from available-for-sale securities were \$166.3 million and gross realized losses were not material, excluding the impairment charge noted above. During the three months ended September 30, 2014, and during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, there were no material gross realized gains or losses from available-for-sale securities and there were no material gross realized gains or losses from trading securities during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014 and September 30, 2013.

The following tables present the Company's available-for-sale securities that were in an unrealized loss position as of September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013 (in millions):

	Less than 1			01 0100001	Total	** 1	
	Fair	Unrealized	Fair	Unrealized	Fair	Unrealiz	ed
	Value	Loss	Value	Loss	Value	Loss	
As of September 30, 2014							
Fixed income securities:							
Asset-backed securities	\$237.2	\$(0.3)	\$—	<b>\$</b> —	\$237.2	\$(0.3	)
Corporate debt securities	472.8	(0.8)	_		472.8	(0.8	)
Foreign government debt securities <sup>(1)</sup>	15.9			_	15.9	_	
Government-sponsored enterprise obligations	104.2	(0.2)	_		104.2	(0.2	)
U.S. government securities <sup>(1)</sup>	21.7			_	21.7	_	
Total fixed income securities	851.8	(1.3)	_		851.8	(1.3	)
Publicly-traded equity securities	2.1	(0.3)	_	_	2.1	(0.3	)
Total available-for-sale securities	\$853.9	\$(1.6)	<b>\$</b> —	<b>\$</b> —	\$853.9	\$(1.6	)

<sup>(1)</sup> Balances less than 12 months include investments that were in an immaterial unrealized loss position as of September 30, 2014.

#### **Table of Contents**

Juniper Networks, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Unaudited)

	Less than 12 Months		12 Months or Greater		Total		
	Fair	Unrealized	Fair	Unrealized	Fair	Unrealize	ed
	Value	Loss	Value	Loss	Value	Loss	
As of December 31, 2013							
Fixed income securities:							
Asset-backed securities <sup>(1)</sup>	\$153.0	\$(0.1)	\$0.6	\$	\$153.6	\$(0.1	)
Corporate debt securities <sup>(1)</sup>	156.1	(0.3)	9.7		165.8	(0.3	)
Foreign government debt securities <sup>(2)</sup>	10.0				10.0	_	
Government-sponsored enterprise obligations	123.1	(0.1)	_	_	123.1	(0.1	)
U.S. government securities	119.7	(0.1)	_	_	119.7	(0.1	)
Total fixed income securities	561.9	(0.6)	10.3		572.2	(0.6	)
Publicly-traded equity securities	6.8	(1.9)			6.8	(1.9	)
Total available-for-sale securities	\$568.7	\$(2.5)	\$10.3	<b>\$</b> —	\$579.0	\$(2.5	)

<sup>(1)</sup> Balances 12 months or greater include investments that were in an immaterial unrealized loss position as of December 31, 2013.

#### Restricted Cash and Investments

The Company classifies certain cash and investments as restricted cash and investments on its Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets for: (i) amounts held in escrow accounts, as required in connection with certain acquisitions completed between 2005 and 2014; (ii) the India Gratuity Trust and Israel Retirement Trust, which cover statutory severance obligations in the event of termination of any of the Company's India and Israel employees, respectively; and (iii) the Directors and Officers indemnification trust ("D&O Trust"). The restricted investments are designated as available-for-sale securities.

#### **Privately-Held Investments**

As of September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the carrying values of the Company's privately-held investments of \$79.3 million and \$57.2 million, respectively, were included in other long-term assets in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of September 30, 2014, the carrying value of the privately-held debt securities was \$42.3 million. For the nine months ended September 30, 2014, the Company recorded \$10.0 million in other comprehensive income for unrealized gains associated with its privately-held debt securities. During the three months ended September 30, 2014, and during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, there were no unrealized gains associated with its privately-held debt securities.

The Company reviews its investments to identify and evaluate investments that have an indication of possible impairment. The Company adjusts the carrying value of its privately-held investments for any impairment if the fair value is less than the carrying value of the respective assets on an other-than-temporary basis.

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014, the Company determined that certain privately-held investments were other than temporarily impaired, resulting in impairment charges of \$1.1 million that were recorded within other (expense) income, net in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations. For the three and nine

<sup>(2)</sup> Balances less than 12 months include investments that were in an immaterial unrealized loss position as of December 31, 2013.

months ended September 30, 2013, the Company recorded impairment charges for certain privately-held investments of \$2.1 million and \$2.5 million, respectively, within other (expense) income, net in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations.

## Table of Contents

Juniper Networks, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Unaudited)

Note 6. Fair Value Measurements

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

The following tables provide a summary of assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis and as reported in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets (in millions):

•	Fair Value Meass Using:	urements at Septe	mber 30, 2014		
	Quoted Prices in Active Markets For Identical Assets	Significant Other Observable Remaining Inputs	Significant Other Unobservable Remaining Inputs		
	(Level 1)	(Level 2)	(Level 3)	Total	
Assets measured at fair value:					
Available-for-sale securities:					
Asset-backed securities	<b>\$</b> —	\$310.0	<b>\$</b> —	\$310.0	
Certificates of deposit	_	12.4		12.4	
Commercial paper	_	12.9	_	12.9	
Corporate debt securities	_	869.8		869.8	
Foreign government debt securities	_	28.4		28.4	
Government-sponsored enterprise obligations	_	200.2		200.2	
Money market funds <sup>(1)</sup>	692.0	_	_	692.0	
Mutual funds <sup>(2)</sup>	3.9	_	_	3.9	
Publicly-traded equity securities	2.1	_		2.1	
U.S. government securities	243.0	27.0		270.0	
Total available-for-sale securities	941.0	1,460.7		2,401.7	
Trading securities in mutual funds <sup>(3)</sup>	16.7	_	_	16.7	
Privately-held debt securities	_	_	42.3	42.3	
Derivative assets:					
Foreign exchange contracts	_	1.2		1.2	
Total assets measured at fair value	\$957.7	\$1,461.9	\$42.3	\$2,461.9	
Liabilities measured at fair value:					
Derivative liabilities:					
Foreign exchange contracts	<b>\$</b> —		<b>\$</b> —	\$(1.8	)
Total liabilities measured at fair value	\$—	\$(1.8)	\$—	\$(1.8	)
Total assets measured at fair value, reported as	:				
Cash equivalents	\$650.8	\$17.4	<b>\$</b> —	\$668.2	
Restricted investments	45.1		_	45.1	
Short-term investments	98.4	201.1	_	299.5	
Long-term investments	163.4	1,242.2	_	1,405.6	
Prepaid expenses and other current assets	_	1.2	_	1.2	
Other long-term assets			42.3	42.3	
Total assets measured at fair value	\$957.7	\$1,461.9	\$42.3	\$2,461.9	

Total liabilities measured at fair value, reported

as:

Balance includes \$41.3 million of restricted investments measured at fair market value related to the Company's D&O Trust and acquisitions related escrows.

Balance relates to restricted investments measured at fair market value related to the Company's India Gratuity Trust.

<sup>(3)</sup> Balance relates to investments measured at fair value related to the Company's non-qualified deferred compensation plan assets.

# Table of Contents

Juniper Networks, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Unaudited)

	Fair Value Meass Using:	urements at Decer	mber 31, 2013		
	Quoted Prices in Active Markets For Identical Assets	Significant Other Observable Remaining Inputs	Significant Other Unobservable Remaining Inputs		
	(Level 1)	(Level 2)	(Level 3)	Total	
Assets measured at fair value:					
Available-for-sale securities:					
Asset-backed securities	<b>\$</b> —	\$249.9	\$—	\$249.9	
Certificates of deposit	_	27.6	_	27.6	
Commercial paper	_	6.9	_	6.9	
Corporate debt securities	_	815.3	_	815.3	
Foreign government debt securities	_	10.7	_	10.7	
Government-sponsored enterprise obligations	_	306.2	_	306.2	
Money market funds <sup>(1)</sup>	1,043.7	_	_	1,043.7	
Mutual funds <sup>(2)</sup>	4.0			4.0	
Publicly-traded equity securities	114.6			114.6	
U.S. government securities	197.2	106.1		303.3	
Total available-for-sale securities	1,359.5	1,522.7		2,882.2	
Trading securities in mutual funds <sup>(3)</sup>	15.4			15.4	
Privately-held debt securities	_	_	28.1	28.1	
Derivative assets:					
Foreign exchange contracts	_	3.0	_	3.0	
Total assets measured at fair value	\$1,374.9	\$1,525.7	\$28.1	\$2,928.7	
Liabilities measured at fair value:					
Derivative liabilities:					
Foreign exchange contracts	<b>\$</b> —	\$(0.7)	<b>\$</b> —	\$(0.7	)
Total liabilities measured at fair value	<b>\$</b> —	\$(0.7)	<b>\$</b> —	\$(0.7	)
Total assets measured at fair value, reported as	:				
Cash equivalents	\$965.1	\$31.1	<b>\$</b> —	\$996.2	
Restricted investments	87.6			87.6	
Short-term investments	246.5	315.4		561.9	
Long-term investments	75.7	1,176.2		1,251.9	
Prepaid expenses and other current assets		3.0		3.0	
Other long-term assets	_		28.1	28.1	
Total assets measured at fair value	\$1,374.9	\$1,525.7	\$28.1	\$2,928.7	
Total liabilities measured at fair value, reported as:	i				
Other accrued liabilities	<b>\$</b> —	\$(0.7)	<b>\$</b> —	\$(0.7	)
Total liabilities measured at fair value	\$—	\$(0.7)	\$—	\$(0.7	)
	т	- ( )	т	7 (0	,

- Balance includes \$83.6 million of restricted investments measured at fair market value related to the Company's D&O Trust and acquisitions related escrows.
- (2) Balance relates to restricted investments measured at fair market value related to the Company's India Gratuity Trust.
- (3) Balance relates to investments measured at fair value related to the Company's non-qualified deferred compensation plan assets.

**Table of Contents** 

Juniper Networks, Inc.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
(Unaudited)

The Company's Level 2 available-for-sale fixed income securities are priced using quoted market prices for similar instruments or non-binding market prices that are corroborated by observable market data. The Company uses inputs such as actual trade data, benchmark yields, broker/dealer quotes, or alternative pricing sources with reasonable levels of price transparency which are obtained from quoted market prices, independent pricing vendors, or other sources, to determine the ultimate fair value of these assets. The Company's derivative instruments are classified as Level 2, as they are not actively traded and are valued using pricing models that use observable market inputs. The Company's policy is to recognize asset or liability transfers among Level 1, Level 2, and Level 3 at the beginning of the quarter in which a change in circumstances resulted in a transfer. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014, the Company had no transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy of its assets or liabilities measured at fair value.

All of the Company's privately-held debt securities are classified as Level 3 assets due to the absence of quoted market prices and an inherent lack of liquidity. The Company estimates the fair value of its privately-held debt investments on a recurring basis using an analysis of the financial condition and near-term prospects of the investee, including recent financing activities and the investee's capital structure. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014, there were purchases of \$0.2 million and \$4.6 million respectively, related to our privately-held debt securities.

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis

Certain of the Company's assets, including intangible assets, goodwill, and privately-held equity investments, are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis, if impairment is indicated.

Privately-held equity investments, which are normally carried at cost, are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis due to events and circumstances that the Company identified as significantly impacting the fair value of investments. The Company estimates the fair value of its privately-held equity investments using an analysis of the financial condition and near-term prospects of the investee, including recent financing activities and the investee's capital structure.

Purchased intangible assets are measured at fair value primarily using discounted cash flow projections.

As of September 30, 2014, the Company had no significant assets measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis. As of December 31, 2013, the Company had \$2.0 million of privately-held equity investments measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis and were classified as Level 3 assets due to the absence of quoted market prices and inherent lack of liquidity. The impairment charges, representing the difference between the net book value and the fair value, are recorded to other (expense) income, net in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations.

As of September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the Company had no liabilities measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis.

Assets and Liabilities Not Measured at Fair Value

The carrying amounts of the Company's accounts receivable, financing receivables, accounts payable, and other accrued liabilities approximate fair value due to their short maturities. As of September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the estimated fair value of the Company's long-term debt in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets was approximately \$1,432.7 million and \$1,023.5 million, respectively, based on observable market inputs (Level 2).

#### **Table of Contents**

Juniper Networks, Inc.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
(Unaudited)

#### Note 7. Derivative Instruments

The Company uses derivatives to partially offset its market exposure to fluctuations in certain foreign currencies and does not enter into derivatives for speculative or trading purposes.

The notional amount of the Company's foreign currency derivatives are summarized as follows (in millions):

	AS OI		
	September 30,	December 31,	
	2014	2013	
Cash flow hedges	\$144.4	\$137.6	
Non-designated derivatives	94.7	144.4	
Total	\$239.1	\$282.0	

#### Cash Flow Hedges

The Company uses foreign currency forward or option contracts to hedge certain forecasted foreign currency transactions relating to cost of services and operating expenses. The derivatives are intended to hedge the U.S. Dollar equivalent of the Company's planned cost of services and operating expenses denominated in certain foreign currencies. These derivatives are designated as cash flow hedges. Execution of these cash flow hedge derivatives typically occurs every month with maturities of one year or less. The effective portion of the derivative's gain or loss is initially reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income, and upon occurrence of the forecasted transaction, is subsequently reclassified into the cost of services or operating expense line item to which the hedged transaction relates. The Company records any ineffectiveness of the hedging instruments in other (expense) income, net, in its Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations. Cash flows from such hedges are classified as operating activities. All amounts within other comprehensive income are expected to be reclassified into earnings within the next twelve months.

See Note 6, Fair Value Measurements, for the fair values of the Company's derivative instruments in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014, the Company recognized a loss of \$2.8 million and a gain of \$1.7 million, respectively, in accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income for the effective portion of its derivative instruments and reclassified a gain of \$1.5 million and \$5.0 million, respectively, from other comprehensive income to operating expense in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, the Company recognized a loss of \$0.4 million and \$4.2 million, respectively, in accumulated other comprehensive loss for the effective portion of its derivative instruments and reclassified a loss of \$1.4 million and a gain of \$0.6 million, respectively, from other comprehensive (loss) income to operating expense in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The ineffective portion of the Company's derivative instruments recognized in its Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations was not material during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014 and September 30, 2013.

#### Non-Designated Derivatives

The Company also uses foreign currency forward contracts to mitigate variability in gains and losses generated from the remeasurement of certain monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies. These derivatives were not designated for special hedge accounting treatment. These derivatives are carried at fair value with changes recorded in other (expense) income, net, in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations. Changes in the fair value of these derivatives are largely offset by remeasurement of the underlying assets and liabilities. Cash flows from such derivatives are classified as operating activities. The derivatives have maturities within two months.

#### **Table of Contents**

Juniper Networks, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Unaudited)

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014, the Company recognized net losses of \$0.3 million and \$3.3 million, respectively, on non-designated derivative instruments within other expense, net, in its Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, the Company recognized net gain of \$0.9 million and \$1.0 million, respectively, on non-designated derivative instruments within other (expense) income, net, in its Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations.

#### Offsetting of Derivatives

The Company presents its derivative assets and derivative liabilities on a gross basis in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. However, under agreements containing provisions on netting with certain counterparties of foreign exchange contracts, subject to applicable requirements, the Company is allowed to net-settle transactions on the same date in the same currency, with a single net amount payable by one party to the other. As of September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the potential effect of rights of setoff associated with derivative instruments was not material. The Company is neither required to pledge nor entitled to receive cash collateral related to these derivative transactions.

#### Note 8. Goodwill and Purchased Intangible Assets

#### Goodwill

The following table presents goodwill activity during the nine months ended September 30, 2014 (in millions):

Balance as of December 31, 2013 \$4,057.7

Additions due to business combination 13.6

Goodwill reclassified to assets held for sale (159.8)

Tax reserve adjustment 0.2

Balance as of September 30, 2014 \$3,911.7

The additions to goodwill were based on the purchase price allocation of the acquisition completed during the first quarter of 2014. There were no impairments to goodwill during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014 and September 30, 2013.

#### Purchased Intangible Assets

The Company's purchased intangible assets were as follows (in millions):

	Gross	Accumulated Amortization		Impairments an Other Charges		Net
As of September 30, 2014						
Intangible assets with finite lives:						
Technologies and patents	\$592.0	\$(477.8	)	\$(35.7	)	\$78.5
Customer contracts, support agreements,						
and	80.3	(65.8	)	(3.0	)	11.5
related relationships						
Other	19.9	(19.1	)	_		0.8
Total purchased intangible assets	\$692.2	\$(562.7	)	\$(38.7	)	\$90.8

As of December 31, 2013

Intangible assets with finite lives:

mangiole assets with finite fives.				
Technologies and patents	\$581.4	\$(453.4	) \$(30.5	) \$97.5
Customer contracts, support agreements,				
and	74.3	(62.7	) (2.2	) 9.4
related relationships				
Total purchased intangible assets	\$655.7	\$(516.1	) \$(32.7	) \$106.9

<sup>(1)</sup> Balance includes \$6.0 million of unamortized intangible assets related to Junos Pulse that have been reclassified to assets held for sale.

Juniper Networks, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Unaudited)

Intangible assets to be disposed of as a result of the Junos Pulse product portfolio disposition were included in assets held for sale within the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2014 and accordingly, amortization of the assets was stopped as of the date they were deemed to be held for sale.

The following table presents the amortization of intangible assets included in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations (in millions):

	Three Mont	Three Months Ended September 30,		s Ended September 30,
	2014	2013	2014	2013
Cost of revenues	\$7.1	\$6.5	\$23.7	\$19.3
Operating expenses:				
Sales and marketing	1.1	0.8	3.2	2.6
General and administrative	0.3	0.3	0.9	0.9
Total operating expenses	1.4	1.1	4.1	3.5
Total	\$8.5	\$7.6	\$27.8	\$22.8

There were no impairment charges related to purchased intangible assets during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014 and September 30, 2013.

As of September 30, 2014, the estimated future amortization expense of purchased intangible assets with finite lives is as follows (in millions):

Years Ending December 31,	Amount
Remainder of 2014	\$8.5
2015	32.1
2016	20.8
2017	13.0
2018	6.1
Thereafter	10.3
Total	\$90.8

#### Note 9. Other Financial Information

### Inventories

The Company purchases and holds inventory to help ensure adequate component supplies over the life of the underlying products. The majority of the Company's inventory is production components. Inventories are reported both within prepaid expenses and other current assets and other long-term assets in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. Total inventories consisted of the following (in millions):

ASOI		
September 30,	December 31,	
2014	2013	
\$35.6	\$51.3	
15.0	1.4	
\$50.6	\$52.7	
	2014 \$35.6 15.0	

Ac of

The Company recorded charges in cost of revenues of \$15.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2014, related to the acceleration of the end-of-life of certain products in connection with the 2014 Restructuring Plan

discussed in Note 10, Restructuring and Other Charges, and no similar charges for the three months ended September 30, 2014.

Juniper Networks, Inc. Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) (Unaudited)

### Other Long-Term Assets

Other long-term assets consisted of the following (in millions):

	As of	
	September 30,	December 31,
	2014	2013
Privately-held investments	\$79.3	\$57.2
Licensed software	9.4	90.4
Federal income tax receivable	20.0	20.0
Financed customer receivable	18.2	19.9
Inventory	6.8	15.2
Prepaid costs, deposits, and other	29.2	31.1
Other long-term assets	\$162.9	\$233.8

In connection with the 2014 Restructuring Plan discussed in Note 10, Restructuring and Other Charges, the Company reviewed its product portfolio and determined to cease development of the application delivery controller software technology licensed in July 2012. As a result, the Company recognized a charge of \$84.7 million recorded within operating expenses in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations during the nine months ended September 30, 2014. There were no revenues associated with this technology.

#### Warranties

The Company accrues for warranty costs based on associated material, labor for customer support, and overhead at the time revenue is recognized. This accrual is reported within other accrued liabilities in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. Changes in the Company's warranty reserve during the nine months ended September 30, 2014 were as follows (in millions):

Balance as of December 31, 2013	\$28.0	
Provisions made during the period	21.9	
Actual costs incurred during the period	(21.3	)
Warranty reclassified to liabilities held for sale	(0.5	)
Balance as of September 30, 2014	\$28.1	

Juniper Networks, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Unaudited)

#### Deferred Revenue

Details of the Company's deferred revenue, as reported in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets, were as follows (in millions):

	As of			
	September 30,	December 31, 2013		
	2014			
Deferred product revenue:				
Undelivered product commitments and other product deferrals	\$166.5	\$184.9		
Distributor inventory and other sell-through items	113.0	118.7		
Deferred gross product revenue	279.5	303.6		
Deferred cost of product revenue	(57.0	) (58.6	)	
Deferred product revenue, net	222.5	245.0		
Deferred service revenue	851.5	824.3		
Total	\$1,074.0	\$1,069.3		
Reported as:				
Current	\$728.4	\$705.8		
Long-term	345.6	363.5		
Total	\$1,074.0	\$1,069.3		

Deferred product revenue represents unrecognized revenue related to shipments to distributors that have not sold through to end-users, undelivered product commitments, and other shipments that have not met all revenue recognition criteria. Deferred product revenue is recorded net of the related costs of product revenue. Deferred service revenue represents billable amounts for service contracts, which include technical support, hardware and software maintenance, professional services, and training, for which services have not been rendered.

Other (Expense) Income, Net

Other (expense) income, net, consisted of the following (in millions):

•	Three Months Ended September		Nine Months Ended September		r
	30,		30,		
	2014	2013	2014	2013	
Interest income	\$2.7	\$2.3	\$6.9	\$6.1	
Interest expense	(16.9	) (14.2	) (50.2	) (43.4	)
Net gain on legal settlement	0.8	_	196.1	_	
(Loss) gain on investments	(1.9	) 4.0	165.1	7.8	
Other	8.5	0.4	8.1	(0.7	)
Other (expense) income, net	\$(6.8	) \$(7.5	) \$326.0	\$(30.2	)

Interest income primarily includes interest earned on the Company's cash, cash equivalents, and investments. Interest expense primarily includes interest, net of capitalized interest expense, from long-term debt and customer financing arrangements. Other typically consists of foreign exchange gains and losses and other non-operational income and expense items.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2014, the Company entered into a settlement agreement with Palo Alto Networks ("PAN") resolving patent litigation between the two companies, which resulted in a realized gain on legal

settlement and subsequent sale of related securities of \$196.1 million, net of legal fees. Under the terms of the settlement, PAN made a one-time payment to the Company of \$75.0 million in cash and issued PAN common stock and warrants to the Company. The fair value of the PAN common stock and warrants at the date of receipt was included in the net realized gain. All such PAN securities were sold in the third quarter of 2014, and the Company recorded an additional \$0.8 million gain during the three months ended September 30, 2014.

Juniper Networks, Inc. Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) (Unaudited)

Other (expense) income, net, during the nine months ended September 30, 2014, was also comprised of a gain of \$163.0 million, related to the sale of investments which were converted from privately-held investments to publicly-traded equity upon IPO and subsequently sold.

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, net gain on investments was primarily comprised of a gain of \$3.6 million and \$4.9 million, respectively, related to the Company's privately-held investments.

#### Note 10. Restructuring and Other Charges

The following table presents restructuring and other charges included in cost of revenues and restructuring and other (credit) charges in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations (in millions):

	Three Months Ended September 30,			Nine Months Ended September 30		
	2014		2013		2014	2013
Severance	\$7.1		\$3.8		\$45.6	\$9.0
Facilities	(25.0	)	(0.8)	)	12.8	9.5
Contract terminations	_		1.8		2.3	2.8
Total restructuring charges	(17.9	)	4.8		60.7	21.3
Asset impairment and write-downs	2.9		7.3		118.7	7.3
Total restructuring and other (credit) charges	\$(15.0	)	\$12.1		\$179.4	\$28.6
Reported as:						
Cost of revenues	<b>\$</b> —		\$6.1		\$22.2	\$7.6
Restructuring and other (credit) charges	(15.0	)	6.0		157.2	21.0
Total	\$(15.0	)	\$12.1		\$179.4	\$28.6

Restructuring and other (credit) charges noted above are based on the Company's 2014 Restructuring Plan and Other Restructuring Plans that were committed to by management. Any changes in the estimates of executing the approved plans are reflected in the Company's results of operations.

## 2014 Restructuring Plan

In connection with IOP announced in the first quarter of 2014, the Company initiated a restructuring plan (the "2014 Restructuring Plan") designed to refocus the Company's strategy, optimize its structure, and improve operational efficiencies. The 2014 Restructuring Plan consists of workforce reductions, facility consolidations and closures, asset write-downs, contract terminations and other charges.

During the three months ended September 30, 2014, the Company recorded \$7.1 million of severance costs, a benefit of \$25.0 million of facility consolidation and closures, and \$2.9 million of asset write-downs, that were recorded to restructuring and other (credit) charges in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations.

During the three months ended September 30, 2014, the Company with the consent of its landlord and the administrative agent to its lienholder, assigned certain of its real property leases, totaling approximately 0.4 million square feet, some of which the Company has already ceased the use of in the second quarter, to a third party. Concurrently with the assignments, the Company executed a sublease with the assignee for one of the properties of approximately 0.1 million square feet, for a period of two years, with a one-time right to extend the term for up to six

months. Under these arrangements, the Company paid \$12.3 million to the landlord and was released from all future lease obligations following the date of the assignments. The Company also incurred \$5.3 million of transaction fees, which were recorded to restructuring and other (credit) charges in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations. As a result of the lease assignments, the Company recorded a benefit of approximately \$25.0 million, which included a reversal of previously recorded restructuring liability and additional charges relating to facility consolidation activities, in the third quarter of 2014.

Juniper Networks, Inc. Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) (Unaudited)

During the nine months ended September 30, 2014, the Company recorded \$45.0 million of severance costs, \$12.6 million of facility consolidation and closures costs, \$84.7 million of impairment charges related to licensed software, \$11.8 million of asset write-downs, and \$2.3 million of charges related to contract terminations, which were recorded to restructuring and other (credit) charges in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations. The Company also recorded inventory write-downs of \$15.5 million and a charge related to products with contract manufacturers of \$6.7 million for acceleration of the end-of-service life of certain products to cost of revenues in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations during the nine months ended September 30, 2014.

In connection with the 2014 Restructuring Plan, the Company expects to record aggregate future charges of approximately \$7.0 million to \$9.0 million allocated to the following restructuring activities: \$4.0 million to \$5.0 million for severance, \$2.0 million to \$3.0 million for facility consolidations or closures, and up to \$1.0 million for contract terminations and other charges.

## Other Restructuring Plans

Restructuring plans initiated by the Company in fiscal 2013, 2012, and 2011 have been substantially completed as of September 30, 2014. The Company does not expect to record significant future charges under these restructuring plans.

#### Restructuring Liability

Restructuring liabilities are reported within other accrued liabilities and other long-term liabilities in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. The following table provides a summary of changes in the restructuring liability related to the Company's plans during the nine months ended September 30, 2014 (in millions):

	December 31, 2013	Charges	Cash Payments		Non-cash Settlements and Other		September 30, 2014
Severance	\$5.6	\$45.6	\$(40.9	)	\$(1.0	)	\$9.3
Facilities	5.1	12.8	(17.5	)	8.9		9.3
Contract terminations and other	7.1	2.3	(8.3	)	(0.9	)	0.2
Total	\$17.8	\$60.7	\$(66.7	)	\$7.0		\$18.8

As of September 30, 2014, the Company's restructuring liability was \$18.8 million, of which \$9.5 million is related to severance and other charges expected to be settled by January 2015. The remaining \$9.3 million related to facility closures is expected to be paid through March 2018.

#### Note 11. Long-Term Debt and Financing

Long-Term Debt

The following table summarizes the Company's long-term debt (in millions, except percentages):

As of September 30, 2014

Amount

Effective Interest

Rates

Senior notes:

3.10% fixed-rate notes, due 2016 ("2016 Notes")	\$300.0	3.25	%
4.60% fixed-rate notes, due 2021 ("2021 Notes")	300.0	4.69	%
4.50% fixed-rate notes, due 2024 ("2024 Notes")	350.0	4.63	%
5.95% fixed-rate notes, due 2041 ("2041 Notes")	400.0	6.03	%
Total senior notes	1,350.0		
Unaccreted discount	(1.1	)	
Total	\$1,348.9		

Juniper Networks, Inc. Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) (Unaudited)

In February 2014, the Company issued \$350.0 million aggregate principal amount of 4.50% senior notes due 2024. The 2024 Notes are senior unsecured obligations and rank equally with all of the Company's other existing and future senior unsecured indebtedness. Interest on the 2024 Notes is payable in cash semiannually. The Company may redeem the 2024 Notes, at any time in whole or from time to time in part, subject to a make-whole premium, and in the event of a change in control, the holders of the 2024 Notes may require the Company to repurchase for cash all or part of the 2024 Notes at a purchase price equal to 101% of the aggregate principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any. The indenture that governs the 2024 Notes also contains various covenants, including limitations on the Company's ability to incur liens or enter into sale-leaseback transactions over certain dollar thresholds.

The effective interest rates for the 2016 Notes, 2021 Notes, 2024 Notes, and 2041 Notes (collectively the "Notes") include the interest on the Notes, accretion of the discount, and amortization of issuance costs. As of September 30, 2014, the Company was in compliance with all of its covenants in the indentures governing the Company's notes.

## **Revolving Credit Facility**

On June 27, 2014, the Company entered into a Credit Agreement ("Credit Agreement") with certain institutional lenders and Citibank, N.A., as administrative agent, that provides for a \$500.0 million unsecured revolving credit facility, with an option of the Company to increase the amount of the credit facility by up to an additional \$200.0 million, subject to certain conditions. Proceeds of loans made under the Credit Agreement may be used by the Company for working capital and general corporate purposes. Revolving loans may be borrowed, repaid and reborrowed until June 27, 2019, at which time all amounts borrowed must be repaid. Borrowing may be denominated, at the Company's option in U.S. dollars, Pounds Sterling or Euro.

Borrowings under the Credit Agreement will bear interest, at either i) a floating rate per annum equal to the base rate plus a margin of between 0.00% and 0.50%, depending on the Company's public debt rating or ii) a per annum rate equal to the reserve adjusted Eurocurrency rate, plus a margin of between 0.90% and 1.50%, depending on the Company's public debt rating. Base rate is defined as the greatest of (A) Citibank's base rate, (B) the federal funds rate plus 0.50% or (C) the ICE Benchmark Administration Settlement Rate applicable to dollars for a period of one month plus 1.00%. The Eurocurrency rate is determined for U.S. dollars and Pounds Sterling as the rate at which deposits in such currency are offered in the London interbank market for the applicable interest period and for Euro as the rate specified for deposits in Euro with a maturity comparable to the applicable interest period.

As of September 30, 2014, the Company was in compliance with all covenants in the Credit Agreement, and no amounts were outstanding.

## **Customer Financing Arrangements**

The Company provides certain distribution partners access to extended financing arrangements for certain end-user customers that require longer payment terms than those typically provided by the Company through factoring accounts receivable to third-party financing providers ("financing providers"). The program does not and is not intended to affect the timing of the Company's revenue recognition. Under the financing arrangements, proceeds from the financing provider are due to the Company within 30 to 90 days from the sale of the receivable. In these transactions with the financing provider, the Company surrenders control over the transferred assets. The factored accounts receivable are isolated from the Company and put beyond the reach of the Company's creditors, even in the event of bankruptcy. The Company does not maintain effective control over the transferred assets through obligations or rights to redeem, transfer, or repurchase the receivables after they have been transferred.

Pursuant to the financing arrangements for the sale of receivables, the Company sold net receivables of \$92.8 million and \$241.4 million during the three months ended September 30, 2014 and September 30, 2013, respectively, and \$429.2 million and \$607.1 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2014 and September 30, 2013, respectively.

The Company received cash proceeds from the financing provider of \$128.9 million and \$210.8 million during the three months ended September 30, 2014 and September 30, 2013, respectively, and \$473.3 million and \$579.2 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2014 and September 30, 2013, respectively. As of September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the amounts owed to the Company by the financing provider were \$146.2 million and \$189.8 million, respectively, and were recorded in accounts receivable on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Juniper Networks, Inc. Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) (Unaudited)

The Company has provided guarantees to third-party financing companies for certain third-party financing arrangements extended to certain end-user customers, which have terms of up to four years. The Company is liable for the aggregate unpaid payments to the third-party financing company in the event of customer default. As of September 30, 2014, the Company has not been required to make any payments under these arrangements. Pursuant to these arrangements, the Company has guarantees for third-party financing arrangements of \$22.1 million as of September 30, 2014.

The portion of the receivable financed that has not been recognized as revenue is accounted for as a financing arrangement and is included in other accrued liabilities and other long-term liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the estimated cash received from the financing provider not recognized as revenue was \$59.5 million and \$62.3 million, respectively.

Note 12. Equity

Cash Dividends on Shares of Common Stock

On July 22, 2014, the Company declared a quarterly cash dividend of \$0.10 per share of common stock, or \$43.8 million in the aggregate, to stockholders of record on September 2, 2014 which was paid on September 23, 2014. Any future dividends, and the establishment of record and payment dates, are subject to approval by the Board of Directors (the "Board") of Juniper Networks or authorized committee thereof. See Note 18, Subsequent Events, for discussion of the Company's dividend declaration subsequent to September 30, 2014.

#### **Stock Repurchase Activities**

In February 2014, the Company's Board approved a stock repurchase program that authorized the Company to repurchase up to \$2.1 billion of its common stock through the end of the first quarter of 2015, including \$1.2 billion to be used pursuant to an accelerated share repurchase program ("2014 Stock Repurchase Program"). The \$2.1 billion authorization replaced the \$1.0 billion stock repurchase authorization approved by the Board in July 2013 ("2013 Stock Repurchase Program").

As part of the 2014 Stock Repurchase Program, the Company entered into two separate accelerated share repurchase agreements (collectively, the "ASR") with two financial institutions to repurchase \$1.2 billion of the Company's common stock. During the three months ended March 31, 2014, the Company made an up-front payment of \$1.2 billion pursuant to the ASR and received and retired an initial 33.3 million shares ("Initial Shares") of the Company's common stock for an aggregate price of \$900.0 million based on the market value of the Company's common stock on the date of the transaction. The payment for the Initial Shares was accounted for as a reduction to stockholders' equity in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. On July 23, 2014, the ASR was completed and an additional 16.0 million shares for the remaining \$300.0 million was received from the financial institutions for a total of 49.3 million shares of the Company's common stock, which resulted in a volume weighted average repurchase price, less an agreed upon discount, of \$24.35 per share. The 16.0 million shares received were retired during the three months ended September 30, 2014. Retired shares return to authorized but unissued shares of common stock.

Subsequent to the completion of the ASR, the Company repurchased and retired approximately 23.5 million shares of its common stock under the 2014 Stock Repurchase Program at an average price of \$23.44 per share for an aggregate purchase price of \$550.0 million during the three months ended September 30, 2014. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, the Company repurchased and retired approximately 4.4 million and 17.0 million

shares of its common stock, respectively, at an average price of \$20.92 and \$19.32 per share, respectively, for an aggregate purchase price of \$92.9 million and \$328.4 million, respectively.

As of September 30, 2014, there was \$350.0 million of authorized funds remaining under the 2014 Stock Repurchase Program. In October 2014, the Board authorized a \$1.3 billion increase to the 2014 Stock Repurchase Program. The Company has announced its intention to repurchase an additional \$1.5 billion of its common stock before the end of the second quarter of 2015, as part of its three year capital return program.

#### **Table of Contents**

Juniper Networks, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Unaudited)

In addition to repurchases under the Company's stock repurchase program, the Company also repurchases common stock from certain employees in connection with the net issuance of shares to satisfy minimum tax withholding obligations upon the vesting of certain stock awards issued to such employees. Repurchases associated with tax withholdings were not significant during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014 and September 30, 2013.

Future stock repurchases under the Company's stock repurchase program will be subject to a review of the circumstances at that time and will be made from time to time in private transactions or open market purchases as permitted by securities laws and other legal requirements.

See Note 18, Subsequent Events, for discussion of the Company's stock repurchase activity subsequent to September 30, 2014.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income, Net of Tax

The components of accumulated other comprehensive income, net of related taxes, during the nine months ended September 30, 2014 were as follows (in millions):

	Unrealized						
	Gains (Losses)	) U	nrealized	Foreign			
	on	G	ains (Losses)	Currency		Total	
	Available-for-	or	n Cash Flow	Translation		Total	
	Sale	H	edges <sup>(2)</sup>	Adjustments			
	Securities <sup>(1)</sup>						
Balance as of December 31, 2013	\$66.2	\$2	2.2	\$(3.8	)	\$64.6	
Other comprehensive gain before reclassifications	44.0	0.	4	(3.8	)	40.6	
Amount reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income	(104.0	) (4	1.2	_		(108.2	)
Net other comprehensive loss	(60.0	) (3	5.8	(3.8	)	(67.6	)
Balance as of September 30, 2014	\$6.2	\$(	(1.6)	\$(7.6	)	\$(3.0	)

The reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive income during the nine months ended September 30,

#### Note 13. Employee Benefit Plans

#### **Equity Incentive Plans**

The Company's equity incentive plans include the 2006 Equity Incentive Plan (the "2006 Plan"), the 2000 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan (the "2000 Plan"), the Amended and Restated 1996 Stock Plan (the "1996 Plan"), various equity incentive plans assumed through acquisitions, and the 2008 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "ESPP"). Under these

<sup>(1) 2014</sup> for realized gains on available-for-sale securities of \$104.0 million are included in other (expense) income, net, in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive income during the nine months ended September 30,

<sup>2014</sup> for realized gains on cash flow hedges are included within cost of revenues of \$0.4 million, research and development of \$1.3 million, sales and marketing of \$1.6 million, and general and administrative of \$0.9 million for which the hedged transactions relate in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations.

plans, the Company has granted (or, in the case of acquired plans, assumed) stock options, restricted stock units ("RSUs"), restricted stock awards ("RSAs"), and performance share awards ("PSAs").

The 2006 Plan was adopted and approved by the Company's stockholders in May 2006. To date, the Company's stockholders have approved a share reserve of 149.5 million shares of common stock plus the addition of any shares subject to options under the 2000 Plan and the 1996 Plan that were outstanding as of May 18, 2006, and that subsequently expire unexercised, up to a maximum of an additional 75.0 million shares. As of September 30, 2014, an aggregate of 30.3 million shares were subject to currently outstanding equity awards under the 2006 Plan, the 2000 Plan, and the 1996 Plan. As of September 30, 2014, 45.3 million shares were available for future issuance under the 2006 Plan and no shares were available for future issuance under either the 2000 Plan or the 1996 Plan.

#### **Table of Contents**

Juniper Networks, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Unaudited)

The ESPP was adopted and approved by the Company's stockholders in May 2008. To date, the Company's stockholders have approved a share reserve of 19.0 million shares of the Company's common stock for issuance under this plan. The ESPP permits eligible employees to acquire shares of the Company's common stock at a 15% discount to the offering price (as determined in the ESPP) through periodic payroll deductions of up to 10% of base compensation, subject to individual purchase limits of 6,000 shares in any twelve-month period or \$25,000 worth of stock, determined at the fair market value of the shares at the time the stock purchase option is granted, in one calendar year. As of September 30, 2014, approximately 15.7 million shares have been issued and 3.3 million shares remain available for future issuance under the ESPP.

In connection with certain past acquisitions, the Company assumed stock options, RSUs, RSAs and PSAs under the assumed stock plans of the acquired companies and exchanged the assumed awards for the Company's stock options, RSUs, RSAs and PSAs, respectively. No new stock options, RSUs, RSAs and PSAs can be granted under these plans. As of September 30, 2014, stock options, RSUs, RSAs and PSAs representing approximately 4.7 million shares of common stock were outstanding under all awards assumed through the Company's acquisitions.

## **Stock Option Activities**

The following table summarizes the Company's stock option activity and related information as of and for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 (in millions, except for per share amounts and years):

Outstanding Ontions

	Outstanding Options				
	Number of Shares	Weighted Average Exercise Price per Share	Weighted Average Remaining Contractual Term (In Years)	Aggregate Intrinsic Value	
Balance as of December 31, 2013	23.1	\$25.15			
Canceled	(0.6)	30.34			
Exercised	(5.2)	19.95			
Expired	(5.8)	28.68			
Balance as of September 30, 2014	11.5	\$25.46	2.1	\$25.7	
As of September 30, 2014:					
Vested and expected-to-vest options	11.4	\$25.60	2.1	\$24.3	
Exercisable options	10.5	\$26.40	1.8	\$15.7	

The aggregate intrinsic value represents the difference between the Company's closing stock price on the last trading day of the period, which was \$22.15 per share as of September 30, 2014, and the exercise price of the applicable options multiplied by the number of related options. The pre-tax intrinsic value of options exercised, representing the difference between the fair market value of the Company's common stock on the date of exercise and the exercise price of each option, was \$3.4 million and \$32.0 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014, respectively.

#### **Table of Contents**

Juniper Networks, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Unaudited)

Restricted Stock Unit, Restricted Stock Award, and Performance Share Award Activities

The following table summarizes the Company's RSU, RSA, and PSA activity and related information as of and for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 (in millions, except per share amounts and years):

Outstanding RSUs, RSAs, and PSAs

	Number of Shares	Weighted Average Grant-Date Fair Value per Share	Weighted Average Remaining Contractual Term (In Years)	Aggregate Intrinsic Value
Balance as of December 31, 2013	25.4	\$23.44		
RSUs granted (1)(4)	8.8	22.98		
RSUs assumed (2)	0.4	22.66		
RSAs assumed (2)	0.9	22.66		
PSAs granted (3)(4)	0.8	25.59		
PSAs assumed (2)	0.2	22.66		
RSUs vested	(6.0	) 23.40		
RSAs vested	(1.1	) 19.59		
PSAs vested	(1.0	) 36.77		
RSUs canceled	(2.2	) 21.81		
PSAs canceled	(2.7	) 31.29		
Balance as of September 30, 2014	23.5	22.11	1.3	\$520.8

<sup>(1)</sup> Includes service-based and market-based RSUs granted under the 2006 Plan according to its terms.

The number of shares subject to PSAs granted represents the aggregate maximum number of shares that may be issued pursuant to the award over its full term. The aggregate number of shares subject to these PSAs that would be

- <sup>(3)</sup> issued if performance goals determined by the Compensation Committee are achieved at target is 0.4 million shares. Depending on achievement of such performance goals, the range of shares that could be issued under these awards is 0 to 0.8 million shares.
  - On February 20, 2014, the Company announced its intention to initiate a quarterly cash dividend of \$0.10 per share of common stock in the third quarter of 2014. As a result of the Company's announcement, the grant date fair value of RSUs and PSAs granted after the announcement date were reduced by the present value of the dividends
- (4) expected to be paid on the underlying shares of common stock during the requisite and derived service period as these awards are not entitled to receive dividends until vested. On July 22, 2014, the Company declared a cash dividend of \$0.10 per share of common stock, or \$43.8 million in the aggregate, to stockholders of record on September 2, 2014, which was paid on September 23, 2014.

#### **Employee Stock Purchase Plan**

The ESPP is implemented in a series of offering periods, each currently six months in duration, or such other period as determined by the Board. Employees purchased 1.4 million and 2.9 million shares of common stock through the ESPP at an average exercise price of \$20.01 and \$19.30 per share for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014, respectively, and 1.5 million and 3.3 million shares at an average per share price of \$18.42 and \$16.53 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, respectively.

<sup>(2)</sup> RSUs, RSAs, and PSAs assumed in connection with the acquisition of WANDL.

## **Table of Contents**

Juniper Networks, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Unaudited)

#### Valuation Assumptions

There were no market-based RSU grants during the three months ended September 30, 2014 or the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013. The weighted-average assumptions used and the resulting estimates of fair value for ESPP and market-based RSUs during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014 and September 30, 2013 were as follows:

	Three Months Ended September 30,		Nine Months End	led September 30,
	2014	2013	2014	2013
ESPP (1):				
Volatility	27%	35%	30%	36%
Risk-free interest rate	0.1%	0.1%	0.1%	0.1%
Expected life (years)	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5
Dividend yield	1.8%	_	1.0%	_
Weighted-average fair value per share	\$5.13	\$5.47	\$5.72	\$5.54
Market-based RSUs (2):				
Volatility	_		36%	
Risk-free interest rate	_		1.6%	
Dividend yield	_		0% - 1.5%	
Weighted-average fair value per share		_	\$18.28	_

<sup>(1)</sup> The Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model is utilized to estimate the fair value of ESPP.

## **Share-Based Compensation Expense**

Share-based compensation expense associated with stock options, RSUs, RSAs, PSAs, and ESPP was recorded in the following cost and expense categories in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations (in millions):

	Three Months Ended September 30,		Nine Months Ended September	
	2014	2013	2014	2013
Cost of revenues - Product	\$1.3	\$1.4	\$3.9	\$3.5
Cost of revenues - Service	3.6	3.4	10.7	11.5
Research and development	37.1	36.6	100.8	93.2
Sales and marketing	15.9	20.4	44.9	53.0
General and administrative	7.4	7.5	25.1	19.5
Total	\$65.3	\$69.3	\$185.4	\$180.7

The following table summarizes share-based compensation expense by award type (in millions):

Three Months	Ended September 30,	Nine Months E	Ended September 30,
2014	2013	2014	2013

The fair value of market-based RSUs utilizes a Monte Carlo valuation methodology. The Company amortizes the fair value of these awards over the derived service period adjusted for estimated forfeitures for each separately

vesting tranche of the award. Provided that the derived service is rendered, the total fair value of the market-based RSUs at the date of grant is recognized as compensation expense even if the market condition is not achieved. However, the number of shares that ultimately vest can vary significantly with the performance of the specified market criteria.

Stock options	\$3.2	\$7.7	\$12.0	\$24.9
RSUs, RSAs, and PSAs	58.2	57.7	161.9	144.0
ESPP	3.9	3.9	11.5	11.8
Total	\$65.3	\$69.3	\$185.4	\$180.7

#### **Table of Contents**

Juniper Networks, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Unaudited)

The following table presents unrecognized compensation cost, adjusted for estimated forfeitures, recognized over a weighted-average period related to unvested stock options, RSUs, RSAs, and PSAs as of September 30, 2014 (in millions, except years):

	Unrecognized Compensation Cost	Average Period (In Years)
Stock options	\$15.9	1.5
RSUs, RSAs, and PSAs	\$302.8	1.9

## Note 14. Segments

In connection with the IOP, the Company realigned its organization into a One-Juniper structure which includes consolidating the Company's R&D and go-to-market functions to reduce complexity, increase clarity of responsibilities, and improve efficiency. As a result of these changes, the consolidated business is considered to be one reportable segment and operating segment, consistent with how the Company's CODM views the business, allocates resources, and assesses the performance of the Company. Future organizational changes, if any, could impact how the CODM allocates resources and assesses performance.

The Company continues to sell its high-performance network products and service offerings across routing, switching, and security to service provider and enterprise markets.

The following table presents net revenues by product and service (in millions):

	Three Months Ended September 30,		Nine Months Ended Septembe	
	2014	2013	2014	2013
Routing	\$533.2	\$609.0	\$1,700.8	\$1,700.2
Switching	155.0	147.6	546.8	439.3
Security	121.3	144.2	367.1	406.9
Total product	809.5	900.8	2,614.7	2,546.4
Total service	316.4	284.8	910.8	849.1
Total	\$1,125.9	\$1,185.6	\$3,525.5	\$3,395.5

The Company attributes revenues to geographic region based on the customer's ship-to location. The following table presents net revenues by geographic region (in millions):

		Three Months Ended September 30		Nine Months	Ended September 30,
		2014	2013	2014	2013
Americas:					
United States		\$621.3	\$604.6	\$1,905.7	\$1,761.8
Other		57.0	56.7	165.1	166.7
Total Americas		678.3	661.3	2,070.8	1,928.5
Europe, Middle East, and	d Africa	290.5	306.5	911.0	898.0
Asia Pacific		157.1	217.8	543.7	569.0
Total		\$1,125.9	\$1,185.6	\$3,525.5	\$3,395.5

No customer accounted for 10% or more of the Company's net revenues during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014 and September 30, 2013, respectively.

#### **Table of Contents**

Juniper Networks, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Unaudited)

The following table presents geographic information for property and equipment, net (in millions):

	As of	
	September 30,	December 31,
	2014	2013
United States	\$806.6	\$801.3
International	82.2	81.0
Property and equipment, net	\$888.8	\$882.3

The Company tracks assets by physical location. The majority of the Company's assets, excluding cash and cash equivalents and investments, as of September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, were attributable to U.S. operations.

#### Note 15. Income Taxes

The Company's effective tax rate for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014 of 37.4% and 28.4%, respectively, differs from the federal statutory rate of 35% and the effective tax rate for the same periods in 2013 primarily due to the impact of the discrete items referenced below, offset by the benefit from the Section 199 deduction for U.S. production activities and earnings in foreign jurisdictions, which are subject to lower tax rates. The effective rate for the period does not reflect the benefit of the federal R&D credit, which expired on December 31, 2013.

The effective tax rate for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 of 27.9% and 15.4%, respectively, differs from the federal statutory rate of 35% primarily due to the benefit from the Section 199 deduction for U.S. production activities, earnings in foreign jurisdiction, which are subject to lower tax rates, the impact of the recognition of tax benefits related to a tax settlement with the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") and the reinstatement of the U.S. federal research and development ("R&D") tax credit on January 2, 2013.

The effective tax rates for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014 and September 30, 2013 include the tax expense (benefit) of the following discrete items (in millions):

	Three Mon	ths Ended September 30	, Nine Mont	ths Ended September 30	0,
	2014	2013	2014	2013	
Tax on equity investments <sup>(1)</sup>	\$0.7	\$3.0	\$36.3	\$3.4	
Restructuring	\$9.2	\$(4.4	) \$(46.7	) \$(7.9	)
Legal settlement	<b>\$</b> —	<b>\$</b> —	\$44.7	\$(3.8	)
Section 199 deduction	<b>\$</b> —	\$0.6	<b>\$</b> —	\$(19.7	)
Tax settlement with Internal Revenue					
Service	\$	<b>\$</b> —	<b>\$</b> —	\$(27.8	)
("IRS")					
Reinstatement of the U.S. federal R&D ta	ax <sub>¢</sub>	\$(1.0	\ <b>¢</b>	\$ (16.2	`
credit	φ—	\$(1.0	) <b>\$</b> —	\$(16.2)	)

<sup>(1)</sup> During the nine months ended September 30, 2014, tax on equity investments of \$36.3 million is net of a valuation allowance release of \$24.7 million.

As of September 30, 2014, the total amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits was \$175.6 million, of which \$164.7 million, if recognized, would affect the Company's effective tax rate. The increase in the gross unrecognized tax

benefit balance for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 primarily relates to the impact on foreign income of positions taken during the current year.

The Company engages in continuous discussions and negotiations with tax authorities regarding tax matters in various jurisdictions. There is a greater than remote likelihood that the balance of the gross unrecognized tax benefits will decrease by approximately \$2.6 million within the next twelve months due to lapses of applicable statutes of limitation and the completion of tax review cycles in various tax jurisdictions.

Juniper Networks, Inc. Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) (Unaudited)

The Company is currently under examination by the IRS for the 2007 through 2009 tax years. The Company is also subject to separate ongoing examinations by the India tax authorities for the 2004 tax year, 2004 through 2008 tax years, and the 2008 through 2010 tax years. The Company is not aware of any other examinations by tax authorities in any other major jurisdictions in which it files income tax returns as of September 30, 2014.

In 2008, the Company received a proposed adjustment from the India tax authorities related to the 2004 tax year. In 2009, the India tax authorities commenced a separate investigation of our 2004 through 2008 tax returns and are disputing the Company's determination of taxable income due to the cost basis of certain fixed assets. The Company accrued \$4.6 million in penalties and interest in 2009 related to this matter. The Company understands that in accordance with the administrative and judicial process in India, the Company may be required to make payments that are substantially higher than the amount accrued in order to ultimately settle this issue. The Company strongly believes that any assessment it may receive in excess of the amount accrued would be inconsistent with applicable India tax laws and intends to defend this position vigorously.

The Company is pursuing all available administrative remedies relative to these matters. The Company believes that it has adequately provided for any reasonably foreseeable outcomes related to these proposed adjustments and the ultimate resolution of these matters is unlikely to have a material effect on its consolidated financial condition or results of operations; however there is still a possibility that an adverse outcome of these matters could have a material effect on its consolidated financial condition and results of operations.

Note 16. Net Income Per Share

The Company computed basic and diluted net income per share as follows (in millions, except per share amounts):

	Three Months En	ded September 30,	Nine Months End	ed September 30,	
	2014	2013	2014	2013	
Numerator:					
Net income	\$103.6	\$99.1	\$435.3	\$288.0	
Denominator:					
Weighted-average shares used to compute	448.4	501.5	468.1	503.0	
basic net income per share	770.7	301.3	400.1		
Dilutive effect of employee stock awards	6.4	7.1	8.9	7.7	
Weighted-average shares used to compute	454.8	508.6	477.0	510.7	
diluted net income per share	737.0	300.0	777.0		
Net income per share:					
Basic	\$0.23	\$0.20	\$0.93	\$0.57	
Diluted	\$0.23	\$0.19	\$0.91	\$0.56	
Anti-dilutive:					
Potential anti-dilutive shares	10.2	21.8	10.8	22.3	

Basic net income per share is computed using net income available to common stockholders and the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted net income per share is computed using net income available to common stockholders and the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding plus potentially dilutive common shares outstanding during the period. Dilutive potential common shares consist of common shares issuable upon exercise of stock options, issuances of ESPP, and vesting of RSUs, RSAs, and PSAs. The Company includes the common shares underlying PSAs in the calculation of diluted net income per share when they become

contingently issuable and excludes such shares when they are not contingently issuable. Potentially dilutive common shares were excluded from the computation of diluted net income per share because their effect would be anti-dilutive.

#### **Table of Contents**

Juniper Networks, Inc.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
(Unaudited)

Note 17. Commitments and Contingencies

Commitments

**Operating Leases** 

The Company leases its facilities and certain equipment under non-cancelable operating leases that expire at various dates through October 31, 2024. Certain leases require the Company to pay variable costs such as taxes, maintenance, and insurance and include renewal options and escalation clauses. Future minimum payments under the non-cancelable operating leases totaled \$138.5 million as of September 30, 2014. Rent expense was \$10.8 million and \$36.5 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014, respectively, and \$12.6 million and \$39.9 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, respectively.

Purchase Commitments with Contract Manufacturers and Suppliers

In order to reduce manufacturing lead times and help ensure adequate component supply, the Company enters into agreements with contract manufacturers and certain suppliers to procure inventory based on the Company's requirements. A significant portion of the Company's purchase commitments arising from these agreements consists of firm and non-cancelable commitments. These purchase commitments totaled \$485.6 million as of September 30, 2014.

The Company establishes a liability in connection with purchase commitments related to quantities in excess of its demand forecasts or obsolete materials charges for components purchased by the contract manufacturers based on the Company's demand forecast or customer orders. As of September 30, 2014, the Company accrued \$16.3 million based on its estimate of such charges.

Long-Term Debt and Interest Payment on Long-Term Debt

As of September 30, 2014, the Company held long-term debt consisting of senior notes with a carrying value of \$1,348.9 million. Of these Notes, \$300.0 million will mature in 2016 and bears interest at a fixed rate of 3.10%, \$300.0 million will mature in 2021 and bears interest at a fixed rate of 4.60%, \$350.0 million will mature in 2024 and bears interest at a fixed rate of 4.50%, and \$400.0 million will mature in 2041 and bears interest at a fixed rate of 5.95%. Interest on the Notes is payable semiannually. See Note 11, Long-Term Debt and Financing, for further discussion of the Company's long-term debt.

#### Other Contractual Obligations

As of September 30, 2014, other contractual obligations primarily consisted of \$45.9 million in indemnity-related and service related escrows, as required in connection with certain asset purchases and acquisitions completed by the Company between 2005 and 2014, campus build-out obligations of \$4.0 million, and \$27.2 million of agreements that are firm, non-cancelable and specify terms, including: fixed or minimum quantities to be purchased; fixed, minimum or variable price provisions; and the approximate timing of payment.

Tax Liabilities

As of September 30, 2014, the Company had \$154.2 million included in long-term income taxes payable in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets for unrecognized tax positions. At this time, the Company is unable to make a reasonably reliable estimate of the timing of payments related to this amount due to uncertainties in the timing of tax audit outcomes.

#### Guarantees

The Company enters into agreements with customers that contain indemnification provisions relating to potential situations where claims could be alleged that the Company's products infringe the intellectual property rights of a third-party. The Company also has financial guarantees consisting of guarantees of product and service performance, guarantees related to third-party customer-financing arrangements, custom and duty guarantees, and standby letters of credit for certain lease facilities. As of September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the Company had \$28.3 million and \$40.1 million, respectively, in financing arrangements, bank guarantees, and standby letters of credit related to these financial guarantees, of which \$22.1 million in financing guarantees was

**Table of Contents** 

Juniper Networks, Inc. Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) (Unaudited)

recorded in other accrued liabilities and other long-term liabilities in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2014. See Note 11, Long-Term Debt and Financing, for further discussion of the Company's third-party customer financing arrangements that contain guarantee provisions.

## **Legal Proceedings**

The Company is involved in disputes, litigation, and other legal actions, including, but not limited to, the matters described below. The Company is aggressively defending its current litigation matters. There are many uncertainties associated with any litigation and these actions or other third-party claims against the Company may cause the Company to incur costly litigation and/or substantial settlement charges. In addition, the resolution of any intellectual property litigation may require the Company to make royalty payments, which could adversely affect gross margins in future periods. If any of those events were to occur, the Company's business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows could be adversely affected. The actual liability in any such matters may be materially different from the Company's estimates, if any, which could result in the need to adjust the liability and record additional expenses. Unless otherwise noted below, during the period presented, we have not recorded any accrual for loss contingencies associated with such legal proceedings; determined that an unfavorable outcome is probable or reasonably possible; or determined that the amount or range of any possible loss is reasonably estimable.

#### Investigations

The U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission and the U.S. Department of Justice are conducting investigations into possible violations by the Company of the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act. The Company is cooperating with these agencies regarding these matters. The Company is unable to predict the duration, scope or outcome of these investigations.

Note 18. Subsequent Events

Sale of Junos Pulse Net Assets

The sale of the Junos Pulse product portfolio was completed on October 1, 2014, and the Company received a total consideration of \$228.1 million, of which \$103.1 million was in cash, net of a \$21.9 million working capital adjustment, and \$125.0 million was in the form of an 18-month non-contingent interest bearing promissory note issued to the Company. The net gain from this sale will be recorded in the fourth quarter of 2014 in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

#### **Capital Allocation Program**

As part of the Company's commitment to drive stockholder value, in October 2014, the Company's Board authorized a \$1.3 billion increase to the Company's previously authorized capital return program of \$3.0 billion. This brings the Company's total capital return commitment to shareholders, for the period from February 2014 through 2016, including dividends, to \$4.1 billion. In October 2014, the Company announced its intention to repurchase an additional \$1.5 billion of its common stock before the end of the second quarter of 2015, as part of its three year capital return program.

**Dividend Declaration** 

On October 23, 2014, the Company announced that it had declared a cash dividend of \$0.10 per share of common stock payable on December 23, 2014 to stockholders of record as of the close of business on December 2, 2014.

#### **Stock Repurchase Activities**

Subsequent to September 30, 2014, through the filing of this Report, the Company repurchased 8.1 million shares of its common stock, for an aggregate of \$170.0 million at an average purchase price of \$21.01 per share, under the 2014 Stock Repurchase Program. Repurchases of 6.7 million shares were settled prior to the filing of this Report and the remaining shares will be settled after the filing date. Following the October 2014 increase to the 2014 Stock Repurchase Program, the Company has an aggregate of \$1.5 billion in authorized repurchase funds remaining as of the filing date. Purchases under the Company's stock repurchase program are subject to review of the circumstances in place at the time and will be made from time to time as permitted by securities laws and other legal requirements. This program may be discontinued at any time.

#### **Table of Contents**

Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q ("Report"), including "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations," contains forward-looking statements regarding future events and the future results of Juniper Networks, Inc. ("we," "us," or the "Company") that are based on our current expectations, estimates, forecasts, and projections about our business, our results of operations, the industry in which we operate and the beliefs and assumptions of our management. Words such as "expects," "anticipates," "targets," "goals," "projects," "would," "intends," "plans," "believes," "seeks," "estimates," variations of such words, and similar expressions are intended to identify such forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements by their nature address matters that are, to different degrees, uncertain, and these forward-looking statements are only predictions and are subject to risks, uncertainties, and assumptions that are difficult to predict. Therefore, actual results may differ materially and adversely from those expressed in any forward-looking statements. Factors that might cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed in this Report under the section entitled "Risk Factors" in Item 1A of Part II and elsewhere, and in other reports we file with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"), specifically our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K. While forward-looking statements are based on reasonable expectations of our management at the time that they are made, you should not rely on them. We undertake no obligation to revise or update publicly any forward-looking statements for any reason, except as required by applicable law.

The following discussion is based upon our unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part 1, Item I, of this Report, which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("U.S. GAAP"). In the course of operating our business, we routinely make decisions as to the timing of the payment of invoices, the collection of receivables, the manufacturing and shipment of products, the fulfillment of orders, the purchase of supplies, and the building of inventory and spare parts, among other matters. Each of these decisions has some impact on the financial results for any given period. In making these decisions, we consider various factors, including contractual obligations, customer satisfaction, competition, internal and external financial targets and expectations, and financial planning objectives.

To aid in understanding our operating results for the periods covered by this Report, we have provided an executive overview and summary of our business and market environment along with a financial results overview. These sections should be read in conjunction with the more detailed discussion and analysis of our condensed consolidated financial condition and results of operations in this Item 2, our "Risk Factors" section included in Item 1A of Part II, and our unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes included in Item 1 of Part I of this Report, as well as our audited Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes included in Item 8 of Part II of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013.

#### **Business and Market Environment**

At Juniper Networks, we design, develop, and sell products and services for high-performance networks, which combine scale and performance with agility and efficiency, so customers can build the best networks for their businesses. Our routing, switching, and security products address high-performance networking requirements, which include High-IQ networking and cloud environments for global service providers, enterprises, governments, and research and public sector organizations that view the network as critical to their success. Our silicon, systems, and software represent innovations that transform the economics and experience of networking, helping customers achieve superior performance, greater choice, and flexibility, while reducing overall total cost of ownership.

We do business in three geographic regions: Americas; Europe, Middle East and Africa ("EMEA"); and Asia Pacific ("APAC"). We sell our high-performance network products and service offerings across routing, switching, and security to service provider and enterprise markets.

## Integrated Operating Plan

In the first quarter of 2014, we announced an integrated operating plan ("IOP") to refocus our strategy, optimize our structure, and improve operational efficiencies. In connection with the IOP, we realigned our organization into a One-Juniper structure, which included consolidating our R&D and go-to-market functions to reduce complexity, increase clarity of responsibilities, and improve efficiency. As a result of these changes, our consolidated business is considered to be one reportable segment. Future organizational changes, if any, could impact how the chief operating decision maker ("CODM") allocates resources and assesses performance.

During the first quarter of 2014, we also initiated the 2014 Restructuring Plan. Our 2014 Restructuring Plan consists of workforce reductions, facility consolidations or closures, asset write-downs, contract terminations and other charges of which \$178.6 million was recorded in the nine months ended September 30, 2014 in cost of sales and restructuring and other (credit) charges. This charge consists of \$22.2 million of inventory write-downs, \$96.5 million of asset impairment, \$12.6 million of facility consolidation and

#### **Table of Contents**

closures, \$45.0 million of severance costs, and \$2.3 million of contract terminations. In connection with our 2014 Restructuring Plan, we expect to record aggregate future charges of approximately \$7.0 million to \$9.0 million related to severance, consolidation and closure of facilities, and contract terminations and other charges.

As part of the IOP and our new cost reduction initiative, we have increased our total annualized operating expense savings commitment to \$260.0 million, compared to the fourth quarter of 2013.

On July 22, 2014, we entered into a definitive agreement to sell our Junos® Pulse product portfolio to an affiliate of Siris Capital, a private equity firm, for approximately \$250.0 million, subject to certain working capital adjustments. The sale was completed on October 1, 2014, and we received total consideration of \$228.1 million, of which \$103.1 million was in cash, net of a \$21.9 million working capital adjustment, and \$125.0 million was in the form of an 18-month non-contingent interest bearing promissory note. The related assets and liabilities sold have been presented as held for sale in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet as of September 30, 2014. The quarterly revenue impact of the Junos Pulse business is approximately \$30.0 million and the impact of the sale of the business on gross margin is not significant.

In addition to our cost reduction activities, we introduced a capital allocation program to return capital to our stockholders through share repurchases and dividends. In the first quarter of 2014, we announced our intention to return \$3.0 billion to stockholders over the next three years. In October 2014, our Board of Directors ("Board") authorized a \$1.1 billion increase to our previously authorized capital return program of \$3.0 billion. This brings our total capital return commitment to stockholders, for the period from February 2014 through 2016, including dividends, to \$4.1 billion. In October 2014, we announced our intention to repurchase an additional \$1.5 billion shares before the end of the second quarter of 2015 as part of this three year capital return program, as well as a cash dividend of \$0.10 per share payable December 23, 2014 to shareholders of record as of the close of business on December 2, 2014.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2014, we completed a \$1.2 billion accelerated share repurchase program ("ASR"), repurchased an additional \$550.0 million of our common stock subsequent to the ASR, and paid our first ever quarterly cash dividend of \$0.10 per share for an aggregate amount of \$43.8 million. We also issued \$350.0 million aggregate principal amount of 4.50% senior notes due 2024 ("2024 Notes"), which allowed us to partially fund the ASR.

#### **Quarterly Results**

The third quarter of 2014 was challenging from a revenue perspective with total revenue for the quarter of \$1,125.9 million, down 5% year-over-year primarily due to reduced spending by service providers, particularly in APAC and EMEA. Despite the decline in net revenue this quarter, we believe that the long-term fundamentals for our product portfolio remain intact. In the third quarter of 2014, compared to the same period in 2013, we saw strong revenues from our MX2020 and PTX routers and higher demand from our U.S. federal customers.

We expect the overall revenue environment to be challenging over the next several quarters, as near-term factors are impacting demand from our largest service provider customers. We believe our product gross margins may continue to vary in the future due to competitive pricing pressures, which may be offset by additional cost efficiencies. Nevertheless, we are focused on executing our strategy on high-performance networking. We believe our product portfolio continues to be strong, and we remain focused on innovation and executing to our IOP.

#### **Table of Contents**

Financial Results and Key Performance Metrics Overview

The following table provides an overview of our key financial metrics (in millions, except per share amounts, percentages, days sales outstanding ("DSO"), and book-to-bill):

•							Nine Months Ended September 30,				M			
2014			2013		\$ Change	% Change		2014		2013		\$ Change	% Change	
Net revenues	\$1,125.9		\$1,185.6		\$(59.7)	_	-	\$3,525.5		\$3,395.5		\$130.0	4	%
Gross Margin	\$714.8		\$746.5		\$(31.7)	(4	)%	\$2,183.1		\$2,137.8		\$45.3	2	%
Percentage of net revenues	63.5	%	63.0	%				61.9	%	63.0	%			
Operating income	\$172.4		\$145.0		\$27.4	19	%	\$282.1		\$370.5		\$(88.4)	(24	)%
Percentage of net revenues	15.3	%	12.2	%				8.0	%	10.9	%			
Net income	\$103.6		\$99.1		\$4.5	5	%	\$435.3		\$288.0		\$147.3	51	%
Percentage of net revenues Net income per	9.2	%	8.4	%				12.3	%	8.5	%			
share:	Φ 0. 22		<b>\$0.20</b>		Φ0.02	. ~	~	Φ0.02		<b></b>		Φ0.26	60	~
Basic Diluted	\$0.23 \$0.23		\$0.20 \$0.19		\$0.03 \$0.04	15 21	% %	\$0.93 \$0.91		\$0.57 \$0.56		\$0.36 \$0.35	63 63	% %
Cash dividends	\$0.23		\$U.19		\$U.U <del>4</del>	21	70	\$0.91		\$0.50		\$0.55	03	70
declared per common stock	\$0.10		<b>\$</b> —		\$0.10		%	\$0.10		\$—		\$0.10	_	%
Stock repurchase														
plan activity	\$850.0		\$92.9		\$757.1	815	%	\$1,750.0		\$328.4		\$1,421.6	433	%
Operating cash								\$472.5		\$451.9		\$20.6	5	%
flows	40		42		7	17	07	,		,		,		
DSO Book-to-bill	49 1		42 >1		7	17	%							
Deferred revenue								Septembe 30, 2014 \$1,074.0	r	Decembe 31, 2013 \$1,069.3	r	\$ Change \$4.7	% Chang	ge %

Net Revenues: During the three months ended September 30, 2014, compared to the same period in 2013, we experienced a decline in net revenue in the service provider and enterprise market in both APAC and EMEA, partially offset by an increase in the Americas market. The year-over-year decline in our net revenues was primarily due to a decrease in net revenues from our routing and security products, partially offset by an increase in our switching products. During the nine months ended September 30, 2014, compared to the same period in 2013, we experienced strong net revenue growth in the Americas service provider and enterprise market and an increase in EMEA's service provider, partially offset by a decline in APAC's service provider and enterprise market. The increase in net revenues for the nine months ended is primarily due to an increase in sales from our edge routing and switching products, partially offset by a decline in our core routing and security products.

•

Gross Margin: Our gross margin as a percentage of net revenues increased during the three months ended September 30, 2014, compared to the same period in 2013, as a result of change in product mix and strong growth in service revenues, partially offset by charges related to an industry-wide memory product quality defect for a component from a third party supplier. Our gross margin as a percentage of net revenues decreased during the nine months ended September 30, 2014, compared to the same period in 2013, as a result of higher inventory charges driven by product rationalizations in connection with our 2014 Restructuring Plan and charges related to the memory product quality defect discussed above.

Operating Income: During the three months ended September 30, 2014, compared to the same period in 2013, we experienced an increase in operating income, primarily due to better efficiencies and cost reduction initiatives. Our operating income as a percentage of net revenues decreased during the nine months ended September 30, 2014, compared

#### **Table of Contents**

to the same period in 2013, primarily due to restructuring and other (credit) charges of \$178.6 million, related to severance, facility consolidations and closures, asset write-offs, and contract terminations in connection with our 2014 Restructuring Plan, as well as a component remediation charge of \$20.7 million relating to the memory product quality defect discussed above.

Cash Dividends Declared per Common Stock: On July 22, 2014, we declared a quarterly cash dividend of \$0.10 per share payable on September 23, 2014 to stockholders of record on September 2, 2014 in the aggregate amount of \$43.8 million.

Stock Repurchase Plan Activity: Pursuant to our \$1.2 billion ASR program, we received and retired 33.3 million shares of our common stock during the three months ended March 31, 2014 at a cost of \$900.0 million. On July 23, 2014, the ASR was completed, and we received an additional 16.0 million shares from the financial institutions for a total of 49.3 million shares, which resulted in a volume weighted average repurchase price, less an agreed upon discount, of \$24.35 per share. The 16.0 million shares received were retired in the third quarter of 2014. Subsequent to the completion of the ASR, we repurchased 23.5 million shares of our common stock in the open market at an average price of \$23.44 per share for an aggregate purchase price of \$550.0 million during the three months ended September 30, 2014.

Operating Cash Flows: Operating cash flows increased during the nine months ended September 30, 2014, compared to the same period in 2013, primarily due to higher net income which included the gain on patent litigation settlement, lower taxes paid, partially offset by higher payments related to all restructuring plans, lower cash collections due to the timing of receipts from customers and lower deferred revenue.

DSO: DSO is calculated as the ratio of ending accounts receivable, net of allowances, divided by average daily net sales for the preceding 90 days. DSO for the third quarter of 2014 increased by 7 days, or 17% compared to the same period in 2013, primarily due to shipment linearity and invoice delays as a result of our enterprise resource planning implementation.

Book-to-bill: Book-to-bill represents the ratio of product orders booked divided by product revenues during the respective period. Book-to-bill was approximately one for the three months ended September 30, 2014 and greater than one for the three months ended September 30, 2013.

Deferred Revenue: Total deferred revenue increased by \$4.7 million to \$1,074.0 million as of September 30, 2014, compared to \$1,069.3 million as of December 31, 2013, primarily due to an increase in deferred service revenue of \$27.2 million, driven by the execution of several multi-year support agreements and annual agreement renewals. The increase in deferred service revenue was partially offset by a decrease in deferred product revenue of \$22.5 million as a result of timing of future feature releases and to a lesser extent lower distributor inventory.

## Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements and related disclosures in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires us to make judgments, assumptions, and estimates that affect the amounts reported in the condensed consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions are based on current facts, historical experience, and various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances to determine reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses that are not readily apparent from other sources.

An accounting policy is considered to be critical if the nature of the estimates or assumptions is material due to the levels of subjectivity and judgment necessary to account for highly uncertain matters or the susceptibility of such

matters to change, and the effect of the estimates and assumptions on financial condition or operating performance is material. The accounting policies that we believe reflect our more significant estimates, judgments, and assumptions and are most critical to understanding and evaluating our reported financial results are as follows:

Goodwill;

Inventory Valuation and Contract Manufacturer Liabilities;

Revenue Recognition;

Income Taxes; and

Loss Contingencies.

#### **Table of Contents**

During the nine months ended September 30, 2014, there were no significant changes to our critical accounting policies and estimates as compared to the critical accounting policies and estimates disclosed in Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations contained in Part II, Item 7 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013.

#### **Recent Accounting Pronouncements**

See Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, in the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 1 of Part I of this Report, for a full description of recent accounting pronouncements, including the actual and expected dates of adoption and estimated effects on our consolidated results of operations and financial condition, which is incorporated herein by reference.

#### **Results of Operations**

The following table presents product and service net revenues (in millions, except percentages):

<u>C</u>	<u>.</u> .														
	Three Months Ended September 30,							Nine Months Ended September 30,							
	2014		2013		\$ Chang	ge	% Ch	ange	2014		2013	\$ Change	% Cha	ange	
Routing	\$533.2		\$609.0		\$(75.8	)	(12	)%	\$1,700.8		\$1,700.2	\$0.6		%	
Switching	155.0		147.6		7.4		5	%	546.8		439.3	107.5	24	%	
Security	121.3		144.2		(22.9	)	(16	)%	367.1		406.9	(39.8)	(10	)%	
Total Product	809.5		900.8		(91.3	)	(10	)%	2,614.7		2,546.4	68.3	3	%	
Percentage of net revenues	71.9	%	76.0	%					74.2	%	75.0 %				
Total Service	316.4		284.8		31.6		11	%	910.8		849.1	61.7	7	%	
Percentage of net revenues	28.1	%	24.0	%					25.8	%	25.0 %				
Total net revenues	\$1,125.9		\$1,185.6		\$(59.7	)	(5	)%	\$3,525.5		\$3,395.5	\$130.0	4	%	

Three Months Ended September 30, 2014 Compared with the Three Months Ended September 30, 2013

#### Routing

Routing product net revenues decreased during the three months ended September 30, 2014, compared to the same period in 2013, due to lower net revenues from core and edge routing products, primarily driven by lower sales in the service provider market of our T and MX product lines. Despite the decline in MX product revenue, the MX2020 and our PTX product lines showed strong net revenues in the third quarter of 2014, compared to the same period in 2013.

## Switching

Switching product net revenues increased during the three months ended September 30, 2014, compared to the same period in 2013, primarily due to strong net revenues from QFabric, but partially offset by a decrease in EX. Demand for switching products showed a high demand by service providers, which was primarily a result of strong growth from our service provider customers.

## Security

Security product net revenues decreased during the three months ended September 30, 2014, compared to the same period in 2013, primarily due to decline in demand for our non-Junos based security products and Pulse products, and

a decline for our SRX platform due the timing of large service provider deployments.

## Service

The increase in service net revenues during the three months ended September 30, 2014, compared to the same period in 2013, was primarily driven by new service contracts and strong contract renewals from our installed base across routing and switching products.

#### **Table of Contents**

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2014 Compared with the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2013

## Routing

Routing product net revenues slightly increased during the nine months ended September 30, 2014, compared to the same period in 2013, due to higher net revenues from edge routing products, primarily driven by higher sales of our MX products. The increase in edge routing product net revenues was partially offset by a decrease in sales of core routing and older edge routing products.

#### Switching

Switching product net revenues increased during the nine months ended September 30, 2014, compared to the same period in 2013, primarily due to higher net revenues from our QFabric and EX products, fueled by strong demand for switching products by our service provider customers and, to a lesser extent, the enterprise market.

#### Security

Security product net revenues decreased during the nine months ended September 30, 2014, compared to the same period in 2013, as demand for our non-Junos-based security products declined. This decline was partially offset by an increase in net revenues from our SRX platform and security software.

#### Service

The increase in service net revenues during the nine months ended September 30, 2014, compared to the same period in 2013, was primarily driven by new service contracts and strong contract renewals.

### Net Revenues by Geographic Region

The following table presents net revenues by geographic region (in millions, except percentages):

	1			- , .	5 - 6 - I		0		, -	I.	T	0	, .			
	Three M	aree Months Ended September 30,								nth	s Ended S	ept	ember 30	),		
	2014		2013		\$ Chang	ge	% Cha	nge	2014		2013		\$ Chang	ge	%	Change
Americas:																
United States	\$621.3		\$604.6		\$16.7		3	%	\$1,905.7	'	\$1,761.8		\$143.9		8	%
Other	57.0		56.7		0.3		1	%	165.1		166.7		(1.6	)	(1	)%
Total Americas	678.3		661.3		17.0		3	%	2,070.8		1,928.5		142.3		7	%
Percentage of net revenues	60.2	%	55.8	%					58.7	%	56.8	%				
EMEA	290.5		306.5		(16.0	)	(5	)%	911.0		898.0		13.0		1	%
Percentage of net revenues	25.8	%	25.8	%					25.8	%	26.4	%				
APAC	157.1		217.8		(60.7	)	(28	)%	543.7		569.0		(25.3	)	(4	)%
Percentage of net revenues	14.0	%	18.4	%					15.4	%	16.8	%				
Total net revenues	\$1,125.9	)	\$1,185.6	)	\$(59.7	)	(5	)%	\$3,525.5	,	\$3,395.5		\$130.0		4	%

Three Months Ended September 30, 2014 Compared with the Three Months Ended September 30, 2013

#### Americas

Net revenues in the Americas increased during the three months ended September 30, 2014, compared to the same period in 2013, primarily due to an increase in net revenues from both the service provider and the enterprise market. The increase in service provider net revenues was driven primarily by Web 2.0 and cable providers, partially offset by sharp declines with large carriers in the U.S. The increase in the Americas enterprise market was driven by continued strength in the U.S. federal market and traction in financial services, with a slight decline in the broader market.

### **Table of Contents**

### **EMEA**

Net revenues in EMEA decreased during the three months ended September 30, 2014, compared to the same period in 2013, primarily due to a decline in net revenues from both the service provider and enterprise markets. The decline in the EMEA's service provider market was due to a decline in demand from smaller providers, and a decline in the broader enterprise market. We, however, experienced an increase in service provider demand with large service providers, and greater stability in the enterprise market with smaller sector accounts.

#### **APAC**

Net revenues in APAC decreased during the three months ended September 30, 2014, compared to the same period in 2013, primarily due to a decline in net revenues from both the service provider and enterprise market.

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2014 Compared with the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2013

#### Americas

The increase in net revenues in the Americas during the nine months ended September 30, 2014, compared to the same period in 2013, was primarily due to an increase in net revenues in both the service provider and enterprise markets. The increase in net revenues in the service provider market was primarily due to strong demand from Web 2.0 and cable providers, partially offset by a decrease in demand with carriers. The increase in net revenues in the Americas enterprise market resulted from an improving broad-based market demand, partially offset by a decline in net revenues from Federal customers due to recognition of revenue from a large U.S. federal government contract in 2013.

#### **EMEA**

Net revenues in EMEA increased during the nine months ended September 30, 2014, compared to the same period in 2013, primarily due to stronger demand from larger carriers, partially offset by a decrease in net revenues from the enterprise market.

## APAC

Net revenues in APAC decreased during the nine months ended September 30, 2014, compared to the same period in 2013, primarily due to a decline in net revenues from both the service provider and enterprise market.

#### Net Revenues by Market and Customer

The following table presents net revenues by market (in millions, except percentages):

	Three Mon	ths I	Ended Se	epi	tember 3	0,			Nine Mo	nth	s Ended S	ept	ember 30,		
	2014	20	013		\$ Chang	je	%	Change	2014		2013		\$ Change	% Change	e
Service provider	\$741.5	\$7	788.3		\$(46.8	)	(6	)%	\$2,356.0	)	\$2,227.2		\$128.8	6	%
Percentage of net revenues	65.9	6 66	6.5 %	6					66.8	%	65.6	%			
Enterprise	384.4	39	97.3		(12.9	)	(3	)%	1,169.5		1,168.3		1.2	_	%
Percentage of net revenues	34.1	6 33	3.5	6					33.2	%	34.4	%			
Total net revenues	\$1,125.9	\$1	1,185.6		\$(59.7	)	(5	)%	\$3,525.5		\$3,395.5		\$130.0	4	%

We sell our high-performance network products and service offerings across routing, switching, and security to two primary markets: service provider and enterprise. Determination of which market a particular revenue transaction relates to is based primarily upon the customer's industrial classification code, but may also include subjective factors such as the intended use of the product. The service provider market generally includes wireline and wireless carriers, and cable operators, as well as major Internet content and application providers, including those that provide social networking and search engine services. The enterprise market is generally comprised of businesses; federal, state, and local governments; research and education institutions; and financial services.

### **Table of Contents**

Three Months Ended September 30, 2014 Compared with the Three Months Ended September 30, 2013

#### Service provider

Net revenues from sales to the service provider market decreased during the three months ended September 30, 2014, compared to the same period in 2013, due to a decline in EMEA and APAC, partially offset by a slight increase in the Americas service provider market. The decline in EMEA was due to a decline in demand with smaller service providers, while the decline in APAC was broader among small and large service providers. The increase in service provider net revenues in the Americas was driven by an increase in sales to Web 2.0 and cable providers, partially offset by declines with large carriers. In addition, service provider demand for switching and data center solutions were strong, while routing and security products declined during the three months ended September 30, 2014, compared to the same period in 2013.

#### Enterprise

Net revenues from the enterprise market decreased during the three months ended September 30, 2014, compared to the same period in 2013, primarily due to a decline in the broader enterprise market in EMEA and APAC, partially offset by an increase in the Americas enterprise. The increase in net revenues in the Americas enterprise was primarily due to stronger U.S. Federal demand, especially for routing products in defense and intelligence applications.

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2014 Compared with the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2013

#### Service Provider

Net revenues from the service provider market increased during the nine months ended September 30, 2014, compared to the same period in 2013, with growth in the Americas and EMEA. The increase in service provider net revenues in the Americas was driven by growth with Web 2.0 and cable providers, partially offset by large carriers. The increase in service provider net revenues in EMEA was attributable to growth with large carriers, while in APAC net revenues in the service provider market declined as a result of lower demand with large carriers. In addition, service provider demand for switching products continued to be strong, particularly in the Americas.

#### Enterprise

Net revenues from the enterprise market increased slightly during the nine months ended September 30, 2014, compared to the same period in 2013, primarily due to broad-based growth in the Americas, including strong financial services demand for security products. Public sector net revenues grew in APAC, but declined in EMEA.

### Customer

No customer accounted for 10% or more of our net revenues during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014 and September 30, 2013.

#### **Gross Margins**

The following table presents gross margins (in millions, except percentages):

	Three Mont	ths Ended Se	ptember 30,			Nine Months	s Ended Sept	ember 30,	
	2014	2013	\$ Change	% Char	nge	2014	2013	\$ Change	% Change
Product gross margin	\$519.5	\$575.3	\$(55.8)	(10	)%	\$1,638.8		\$17.4	1 %

Percentage of product revenues	64.2	%	63.9	%					62.7	%	63.7	%			
Service gross margin			171.2		24.1		14	%	544.3		516.4		27.9	5	%
Percentage of service revenues	61.7	%	60.1	%					59.8	%	60.8	%			
Total gross margin	\$714.8		\$746.5		\$(31.7	)	(4	)%	\$2,183.1		\$2,137.8		\$45.3	2	%
Percentage of net revenues	63.5	%	63.0	%					61.9	%	63.0	%			

### **Table of Contents**

Our gross margins have been and will continue to be affected by a variety of factors, including the mix and average selling prices of our products and services, new product introductions and enhancements, manufacturing costs, expenses for inventory obsolescence and warranty obligations, cost of support and service personnel, and the mix of distribution channels through which our products are sold.

Three Months Ended September 30, 2014 Compared with the Three Months Ended September 30, 2013

Product gross margin in dollars declined during the three months ended September 30, 2014, compared to the same period in 2013, primarily due to the decline in net revenues. Product gross margin increased as a percentage of product net revenues during the three months ended September 30, 2014, compared to the same period in 2013, primarily due to a decline in cost of sales, as a result of general cost reductions, offset by an inventory charge of \$7.0 million in connection with an industry-wide memory product quality defect in a component from a third-party supplier, resulting in higher product gross margin percentage.

Service gross margin as a percentage of service net revenues increased during the three months ended September 30, 2014, compared to the same period in 2013, primarily due to a slower increase in labor and logistics delivery costs to support new contracts and product introductions, partially offset by increased service net revenues.

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2014 Compared with the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2013

Product gross margin decreased as a percentage of product net revenues during the nine months ended September 30, 2014, compared to the same period in 2013, primarily due to an increase in cost of revenues. The increase in cost of revenues was primarily due to inventory charges of \$22.2 million for product rationalizations in connection with our 2014 Restructuring Plan and \$20.7 million in connection with an industry-wide memory product quality defect in a component from a third-party supplier. Excluding the costs of the restructuring and component defect, the product gross margin as a percentage of net revenues improved slightly, primarily due to the impact of a lower margin U.S. government contract and higher discounts offered in the nine months ended September 30, 2013 that were not repeated in the 2014 period, as well as favorability in product mix in the 2014 period. Product gross margin in dollars remained flat during the nine months ended September 30, 2014, compared to the same period in 2013.

Service gross margin as a percentage of service net revenues decreased during the nine months ended September 30, 2014 compared to the same period in 2013, primarily due to an increase in labor and logistics delivery costs to support new contracts and product introductions, offset by increased services net revenues.

## **Operating Expenses**

The following table presents operating expenses (in millions, except percentages):

C I	Three M	ontl	ns Ended	Sep	otember :	30	,	1 1	Nine Mo	nth	s Ended S	Sept	ember 30	),		
	2014		2013		\$ Chang	ge	% Cha	nge	2014		2013		\$ Chang	ge	% Cha	nge
Research and development	\$253.2		\$264.6		\$(11.4	)	(4	)%	\$772.7		\$784.5		\$(11.8	)	(2	)%
Percentage of net revenues	22.5	%	22.3	%					21.9	%	23.1	%				
Sales and marketing	249.2		269.5		(20.3	)	(8	)%	780.6		792.7		(12.1	)	(2	)%
Percentage of net revenues	22.1	%	22.7	%					22.1	%	23.3	%				
General and administrative	55.0		61.4		(6.4	)	(10	)%	190.5		169.1		21.4		13	%
	4.9	%	5.2	%					5.4	%	5.0	%				

Percentage of net revenues												
Restructuring and												
other (credit) charges	(15.0	)	6.0		(21.0	) (350	)%	157.2	21.0	136.2	649	%
` '												
Percentage of net	(1.3	)%	0.5	%				4.5 %	0.6 %			
revenues	(	,,-						,,,				
Total operating	\$542.4		\$601.5		\$(59.1	) (10	\07-	\$1,901.0	\$1,767.3	\$133.7	8	%
expenses	\$342.4		\$001.5		\$(39.1	) (10	)70	\$1,901.0	\$1,707.3	\$133.7	O	70
Percentage of net revenues	48.2	%	50.7	%				53.9 %	52.0 %			

Our operating expenses have historically been driven in large part by personnel-related costs, including wages, commissions, bonuses, benefits, share-based compensation, and travel, particularly with respect to research and development and sales and marketing activities. Facilities and information technology ("IT") costs are allocated to each department based on usage and headcount.

#### **Table of Contents**

Three Months Ended September 30, 2014 Compared with the Three Months Ended September 30, 2013

## Research and Development

Research and development expense decreased slightly during the three months ended September 30, 2014, compared to the same period in 2013, primarily due to a decrease in personnel-related expenses as a result of headcount reductions.

### Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expense decreased during the three months ended September 30, 2014, compared to the same period in 2013, primarily due to lower salaries and lower share-based compensation expense resulting from headcount reductions, and lower commission expense, resulting from a decrease in net revenues.

#### General and Administrative

General and administrative expense decreased during the three months ended September 30, 2014, compared to the same period in 2013, primarily due to a decline in legal outside services and to a lesser extent lower personnel-related expenses as a result of headcount reductions.

#### Restructuring and Other Charges

Restructuring and other (credit) charges decreased during the three months ended September 30, 2014, compared to the same period in 2013. We completed the restructuring of our Sunnyvale campus, by assigning certain property leases to a third party. Concurrently with the assignment, we executed a sublease with the assignee for one of the properties, for a period of two years, with a one-time right to extend the term for up to six months. As a result of these arrangements, we recorded a benefit of approximately \$25.0 million, which includes a reversal of our previously recorded restructuring liability and additional charges relating to facility consolidation activities in the third quarter of 2014. See Note 10, Restructuring and Other Charges, in Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 1 Part I of this Report, for further discussion of our restructuring activities.

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2014 Compared with the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2013

## Research and Development

Research and development expense decreased during the nine months ended September 30, 2014, compared to the same period in 2013, due to lower personnel-related expenses and lower depreciation expense attributable to the extended useful lives of computers and equipment adopted in 2013, partially offset by higher share-based compensation expense and engineering program costs.

#### Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expense decreased during the nine months ended September 30, 2014, compared to the same period in 2013, primarily due to lower personnel-related expenses, lower share-based compensation expense, and lower travel and other discretionary expenses, partially offset by an increase in marketing related expenses.

## General and Administrative

General and administrative expense increased by \$21.4 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2014, compared to the same period in 2013, primarily due to higher litigation and investigation related costs incurred in the current period in connection with the investigations into possible violations of the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and, to a lesser extent, our patent litigation case with Palo Alto Networks, Inc., as well as other litigation matters.

## Restructuring and Other Charges

Restructuring and other (credit) charges increased during the nine months ended September 30, 2014, compared to the same period in 2013, primarily due to expenses recorded in connection with our 2014 Restructuring Plan. During the nine months ended September 30, 2014, we incurred \$156.4 million of restructuring and other (credit) charges related to our 2014 Restructuring Plan,

#### **Table of Contents**

of which \$12.6 million was recorded for facility consolidation and closures, \$84.7 million was recorded for asset impairment charges related to licensed software, \$45.0 million for severance costs, \$11.8 million of asset write-downs, and \$2.3 million for contract terminations.

We expect to record aggregate future charges of approximately \$7.0 million to \$9.0 million related to severance, facility consolidations or closures, contract terminations and other charges. See Note 10, Restructuring and Other Charges, in Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 1 Part I of this Report, for further discussion of our restructuring activities.

### **Share-Based Compensation**

Share-based compensation expense associated with equity incentive awards ("awards"), which include stock options, restricted stock units ("RSUs"), restricted stock awards ("RSAs") and performance share awards ("PSAs"), as well as our Employee Stock Purchase Plan ("ESPP") was recorded in the following cost and expense categories (in millions, except percentages):

	Three Mo	nths Ended	September	30,		Nine Mon	ths Ended S	eptember	30	),	
	2014	2013	\$ Change	% Char	nge	2014	2013	\$ Chang	e	% Chan	ge
Cost of revenues - Product	\$1.3	\$1.4	\$(0.1	) (7	)%	\$3.9	\$3.5	\$0.4		11	%
Cost of revenues - Service	3.6	3.4	0.2	6	%	10.7	11.5	(0.8	)	(7	)%
Research and development	37.1	36.6	0.5	1	%	100.8	93.2	7.6		8	%
Sales and marketing	15.9	20.4	(4.5	) (22	)%	44.9	53.0	(8.1	)	(15	)%
General and administrative	7.4	7.5	(0.1	) (1	)%	25.1	19.5	5.6		29	%
Total	\$65.3	\$69.3	\$(4.0	) (6	)%	\$185.4	\$180.7	\$4.7		3	%

Shared-based compensation expense decreased during the three months ended September 30, 2014, compared to the same period in 2013, primarily due to a decline in shares vested, partially offset by expense related to RSUs, RSAs, and PSAs assumed in connection with our acquisition of WANDL during the first quarter of 2014 as well as expense related to market-based RSUs granted during the first quarter of 2014.

Share-based compensation expense increased during the nine months ended September 30, 2014, compared to the same periods in 2013, primarily due to expense related to RSUs, RSAs, and PSAs assumed in connection with our acquisition of WANDL during the first quarter of 2014 as well as expense related to market-based RSUs granted during the first quarter of 2014, partially offset by a decline in shares vested.

Other (Expense) Income, Net and Income Tax Provision

The following table presents other (expense) income, net, and income tax provision (in millions, except percentages):

	Three 1	Mon	ths Ende	ed Se	ptember	r 30,	,		Nine M	Iont	hs Ende	d Sep	tember 3	30,		
	2014		2013		\$ Cha	nge	% Ch	ange	2014		2013		\$ Chan	ge	% Cha	nge
Interest income	\$2.7		\$2.3		\$0.4		17	%	\$6.9		\$6.1		\$0.8		13	%
Interest expense	(16.9	)	(14.2	)	(2.7	)	19	%	(50.2	)	(43.4	)	(6.8	)	16	%
Net gain on legal settlement	0.8		_		0.8		_	%	196.1		_		196.1		_	%
(Loss) gain on investments	(1.9	)	4.0		(5.9	)	(148	)%	165.1		7.8		157.3		2,017	%

Other	8.5		0.4		8.1	2,025	%	8.1		(0.7	)	8.8	1,257	%
Total other (expense income, net	e) \$(6.8	)	\$(7.5	)	\$0.7	9	%	\$326.0		\$(30.2	)	\$356.2	1,179	%
Percentage of net revenues	(0.6	)%	(0.6	)%				9.2	%	(0.9	)%			
Income tax provisio Effective tax rate	n\$62.0 37.4	%	\$38.4 27.9	%	\$23.6	61	%	\$172.8 28.4	%	\$52.3 15.4	%	\$120.5	230	%

## Other (Expense) Income, Net

Interest income primarily includes interest earned from our cash, cash equivalents, and investments. Interest expense primarily includes interest, net of capitalized interest expense, from our long-term debt and customer financing arrangements. Other typically consists of foreign exchange gains and losses and other non-operational income and expense items.

#### **Table of Contents**

During the nine months ended September 30, 2014, we entered into a settlement agreement with Palo Alto Networks, Inc. ("PAN") resolving patent litigation, which resulted in a realized gain on legal settlement and subsequent sale of related securities of \$196.1 million, net of legal fees. Under the terms of the settlement, PAN made a one-time payment to us of \$75.0 million in cash and issued PAN common stock and warrants to the Company. The fair value of the PAN common stock and warrants at the date of receipt was included in the net realized gain. All such PAN securities have been sold in the third quarter of 2014, and we recorded an additional \$0.8 million gain during the three months ended September 30, 2014. Other (expense) income, net also includes a gain of \$163.0 million, related to the sale of investments which were converted from privately-held investments to publicly-traded equity upon IPO and subsequently sold.

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, we recognized a net gain on investments of \$3.6 million and \$4.9 million, respectively, related to the Company's privately-held investments.

#### **Income Tax Provision**

The effective tax rate for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014, differs from the federal statutory rate of 35% and the effective tax rates for the same periods in 2013, primarily due to the recognition of a discrete tax expense of approximately \$9.2 million related to the reversal of restructuring charges in the three months ended September 30, 2014, and the tax on income from equity investments offset by the benefit from the Section 199 deduction for U.S. production activities and earnings in foreign jurisdictions, which are subject to lower tax rates. The effective tax rate for the period does not reflect the benefit of the federal R&D credit, which expired on December 31, 2013.

The effective tax rate for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, differs from the federal statutory rate of 35% primarily due to the benefit from the Section 199 deduction for U.S. production activities, earnings in foreign jurisdictions, which are subject to lower tax rates, the impact of our recognition of tax benefits related to a tax settlement with the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") and the reinstatement of the U.S. federal research and development ("R&D") tax credit on January 2, 2013.

Our effective tax rate could fluctuate significantly on a quarterly basis and could be adversely affected to the extent earnings are lower than anticipated in countries that have lower statutory rates and higher than anticipated in countries that have higher statutory rates. Our effective tax rate could also fluctuate due to changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets or liabilities, or by changes in tax laws, regulations, or accounting principles, as well as certain discrete items. See Item1A of Part II, "Risk Factors" of this Report for a description of relevant risks which may adversely affect our results.

For further explanation of our income tax provision, see Note 15, Income Taxes, in Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 1 of Part I of this Report.

### Liquidity and Capital Resources

Historically, we have funded our business primarily through cash generated by our operating activities, the issuance of our common stock, and the issuance of our long-term debt. The following table presents our capital resources (in millions, except percentages):

	As of September 30, 2014	December 31, 2013	\$ Change		% Change	
Working capital	\$1,614.3	\$2,262.5	\$(648.2	)	(29	)%
Cash and cash equivalents	\$1,615.9	\$2,284.0	\$(668.1	)	(29	)%

Short-term investments	299.5	561.9	(262.4	) (47	)%
Long-term investments	1,405.6	1,251.9	153.7	12	%
Total cash, cash equivalents, and investments	3,321.0	4,097.8	(776.8	) (19	)%
Long-term debt	1,348.9	999.3	349.6	35	%
Net cash, cash equivalents, and investments	\$1,972.1	\$3,098.5	\$(1,126.4	) (36	)%

The significant components of our working capital are cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, and accounts receivable, reduced by accounts payable, accrued liabilities, and short-term deferred revenue. Working capital decreased by \$648.2 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2014, primarily due to a decrease in cash and cash equivalents as a result of our stock repurchase activities, tax payments, our first dividend payment, and a lower balance in our short term investments.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### Summary of Cash Flows

As of September 30, 2014, our cash and cash equivalents decreased by \$668.1 million primarily due to purchases and retirement of our common stock in connection with our stock repurchase program, capital expenditures, federal estimated tax payment and the dividend payout, partially offset by the cash received from the sale of certain equity investments.

The following table summarizes cash flows from our Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (in millions, except percentages):

	Nine Months Ended September 30,							
	2014	2013	\$ Change	% Change				
Net cash provided by operating activities	\$472.5	\$451.9	\$20.6	5	%			
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities	\$150.9	\$(421.7	) \$572.6	136	%			
Net cash used in financing activities	\$(1,291.5	) \$(166.5	) \$(1,125.0	) (676	)%			

## Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 was \$472.5 million, compared to net cash provided by operations of \$451.9 million for the same period in 2013. Net cash provided by operations increased during the nine months ended September 30, 2014, compared to the same period in 2013, as a result of higher net income which included the gain on patent litigation settlement, lower taxes paid, partially offset by higher payments related to all restructuring plans, lower cash collections due to the timing of receipts from customers, and lower deferred revenue.

#### **Investing Activities**

For the nine months ended September 30, 2014, net cash provided by investing activities was \$150.9 million, compared to net cash used in investing activities of \$421.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2013. The increase in net cash provided by investing activities was primarily due to higher proceeds from the sale of investments and fewer purchases of investments.

#### Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities was \$1,291.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2014, compared to \$166.5 million for the same period in 2013. The increase in net cash used in financing activities was primarily due to purchases and retirement of our common stock and payment of cash dividends as described further below, partially offset by the issuance of the 2024 Notes.

### **Stock Repurchase Activities**

In February 2014, our Board of Directors (the "Board") approved a stock repurchase program that authorized us to repurchase up to \$2.1 billion of our common stock through the end of the first quarter of 2015, including \$1.2 billion through an accelerated share repurchase program ("2014 Stock Repurchase Program"). The \$2.1 billion authorization replaced the \$1.0 billion authorization approved by our Board in July 2013 ("2013 Stock Repurchase Program").

As part of our 2014 Stock Repurchase Program, we entered into two separate accelerated share repurchase agreements (collectively, the "ASR") with two financial institutions to repurchase \$1.2 billion of our common stock. During the first quarter of 2014, we made an up-front payment of \$1.2 billion pursuant to the ASR and received and retired an initial 33.3 million shares of our common stock for an aggregate price of \$900.0 million based on the market value of

our common stock on the date of the transaction. On July 23, 2014, the ASR was completed and an additional 16.0 million shares for the remaining \$300.0 million was received for a total of 49.3 million shares of our common stock, which resulted in a volume weighted average repurchase price, less an agreed upon discount of \$24.35 per share. The 16.0 million shares received were retired in the third quarter of 2014. Retired shares return to authorized but unissued shares of common stock.

Subsequent to the completion of the ASR, we have repurchased and retired 23.5 million shares of our common stock, for \$550.0 million at an average purchase price of \$23.44 per share, under the 2014 Stock Repurchase Program. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, we repurchased and retired approximately 4.4 million and 17.0 million shares of our common stock, respectively, at an average price of \$20.92 and \$19.32 per share, respectively, for an aggregate purchase price of \$92.9 million and \$328.4 million, respectively, under our 2013 Stock Repurchase Program.

### **Table of Contents**

In October 2014, our Board authorized an additional \$1.3 billion increase to the 2014 Stock Repurchase Program. We also announced our intent to repurchase an additional \$1.5 billion of our common stock before the end of the second quarter of 2015 as part of our three year capital return program, before the end of the second quarter of 2015. See Note 12, Equity, in Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 1 of Part I of this Report for further explanation of our 2014 Stock Repurchase Program and Note 18, Subsequent Events, for discussion on our stock repurchase activity subsequent to September 30, 2014.

#### Dividends

On July 22, 2014, we declared a quarterly cash dividend of \$0.10 per share of our common stock, or \$43.8 million in the aggregate, to stockholders of record on September 2, 2014 which was paid on September 23, 2014. On October 23, 2014, we declared a cash dividend of \$0.10 per share payable on December 23, 2014 to stockholders of record as of the close of business on December 2, 2014. Any future dividends, and the establishment of record and payment dates, are subject to approval by our Board or an authorized committee thereof. See Note 18, Subsequent Events, in Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 1 of Part I of this Report for further discussion on our dividend declaration subsequent to September 30, 2014.

### Restructuring

As of September 30, 2014, our restructuring liability was \$18.8 million of which \$9.5 million is related to severance and other charges, which are expected to be settled by January 2015. The remaining \$9.3 million related to facility closures are expected to be paid through March 2018. Further, we expect future cash expenditures of approximately \$7.0 million to \$9.0 million in connection with our 2014 Restructuring Plan, funded by our cash from operations.

#### Deferred Revenue

The following table summarizes our deferred product and service revenues (in millions):

	As of		
	September 30,	December 31,	
	2014	2013	
Deferred product revenue:			
Undelivered product commitments and other product deferrals	\$166.5	\$184.9	
Distributor inventory and other sell-through items	113.0	118.7	
Deferred gross product revenue	279.5	303.6	
Deferred cost of product revenue	(57.0)	(58.6)	
Deferred product revenue, net	222.5	245.0	
Deferred service revenue	851.5	824.3	
Total	\$1,074.0	\$1,069.3	

As of September 30, 2014, total deferred revenue increased by \$4.7 million compared to December 31, 2013, due to an increase of deferred service revenue of \$27.2 million driven by the execution of several multi-year support agreements and annual agreement renewals, and a decrease in deferred product revenue of \$22.5 million compared to December 31, 2013 as a result of timing of future feature releases and to a lesser extent lower distributor inventory.

### **Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements**

As of September 30, 2014, we did not have any relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, such as entities often referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities, which would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or limited purposes. It is

not our business practice to enter into off-balance sheet arrangements. However, in the normal course of business, we enter into contracts consisting of guarantees of product and service performance, guarantees related to third-party customer-financing arrangements, customs and duties guarantees, and standby letters of credit for certain lease facilities. See Note 17, Commitments and Contingencies, in Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 1 of Part I of this Report for additional information regarding our guarantees.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### **Contractual Obligations**

As of September 30, 2014, our principle commitments consist of obligations under operating leases, purchase commitments, debt, and other contractual obligations. There have been no significant changes to these obligations, during the nine months ended September 30, 2014 compared to the contractual obligations disclosed in Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, set forth in Part II, Item 7, of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013, other than the issuance of the 2024 Notes and related interest as follows (in millions):

	Total	Less than 1 year	1-3 years	3-5 years	More than 5 years	Other
Long-term debt	\$350.0	<b>\$</b> —	<b>\$</b> —	<b>\$</b> —	\$350.0	\$
Interest payment on long-term debt	\$149.0	\$15.8	\$31.5	\$31.5	\$70.2	\$

For further explanation of our debt, see Note 11, Long-Term Debt and Financing, in Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 1 of Part I of this Report.

## **Revolving Credit Facility**

On June 27, 2014, we entered into a Credit Agreement with certain institutional lenders that provides for a five year \$500.0 million unsecured revolving credit facility, with an option to increase the amount of the credit facility, no more than once a year, by minimum increments of \$200.0 million, up to a maximum credit facility of \$700.0 million. Proceeds from borrowing made under the Credit Agreement may be used by us for working capital and general corporate purposes. Revolving loans may be borrowed, repaid and reborrowed until June 27, 2019, at which time all amounts borrowed must be repaid. As of September 30, 2014, no amounts were outstanding.

The Credit Agreement requires us to maintain a leverage ratio no greater than 3.0x and an interest coverage ratio no less than 3.0x during the term of the credit facility. In addition, the Credit Agreement contains customary affirmative and negative covenants, including covenants that limit or restrict the ability of the Company and its subsidiaries to, among other things, grant liens, merge or consolidate, dispose of all or substantially all of its assets, change their accounting or reporting policies, change their business and incur subsidiary indebtedness, in each case subject to customary exceptions for a credit facility of this size and type. As of September 30, 2014, the Company was in compliance with all covenants in the Credit Agreement, and no amounts were outstanding. See Note 11, Long-term Debt and Financing, in Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 1 of Part I of this Report.

#### Guarantees

We have entered into agreements with customers that contain indemnification provisions relating to potential situations where claims could be alleged that our products infringe the intellectual property rights of a third-party. We also have financial guarantees consisting of guarantees of product and service performance, guarantees related to third-party customer-financing arrangements, custom and duty guarantees, and standby letters of credit for certain lease facilities. Under certain third-party customer financing arrangements that contain guarantee provisions, which have terms of up to four years, we are liable for the aggregate unpaid payments to the third-party financing company in the event of customer default. As of September 30, 2014, we have not made any payments under these arrangements. As of September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, we had \$28.3 million and \$40.1 million, respectively, in financing guarantees, bank guarantees, and standby letters of credit related to these financial guarantees of which \$22.1 million in financing guarantees was recorded in other accrued liabilities and other long-term liabilities in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2014.

## Liquidity and Capital Resource

Liquidity and capital resources may be impacted by our operating activities as well as acquisitions and investments in strategic relationships that we have made or we may make in the future. Additionally, to the extent we repurchase additional shares of our common stock under our stock repurchase program or pay cash dividends on our common stock, our liquidity may be impacted. As of September 30, 2014, 74% of our cash, cash equivalents, and investment balances were held outside of the U.S., which may be subject to U.S. taxes if repatriated.

#### **Table of Contents**

In August 2013, we filed an automatic shelf registration statement with the SEC enabling us to offer for sale, from time to time, an unspecified amount of securities in one or more offerings and is intended to give us flexibility to take advantage of financing opportunities as needed or deemed desirable in light of market conditions. Our 2024 Notes were issued under the automatic shelf registration statement which was issued pursuant to a prospectus filed with the SEC on February 28, 2014. Any other offerings of securities under the automatic shelf registration statement will be made pursuant to a prospectus. In addition, our new Revolving Credit Facility will also provide additional flexibility for future liquidity needs.

We have been focused on managing our annual equity usage as a percentage of the common stock outstanding to align with peer group competitive levels and have made changes in recent years to reduce the number of shares underlying the equity awards we grant. For fiscal year 2014, we intend to target the number of shares underlying equity awards granted on an annual basis at 2.50% or less of our common stock outstanding on a pure share basis (where each option, RSU, RSA or PSA granted is counted as one share). Based upon shares underlying our grants to date of options, RSUs, RSAs, and PSAs, we believe we are on track with respect to this goal for 2014.

Based on past performance and current expectations, we believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents, short-term, and long-term investments, together with cash generated from operations and access to capital markets and our new Revolving Credit Facility will be sufficient to fund our operations, IOP, planned stock repurchases and dividends, and anticipated growth for at least the next twelve months. We believe our working capital is sufficient to meet our liquidity requirements for capital expenditures, commitments, and other liquidity requirements associated with our existing operations during the same period. However, our future liquidity and capital requirements may vary materially from those now planned depending on many factors, including, but not limited to:

4evel and mix of our product, sales, and gross profit margins;

our business, product, capital expenditures and R&D plans;

repurchases of our common stock;

payment of dividends;

incurrence and repayment of debt and related interest obligations;

litigation expenses, settlements, and judgments, or similar items related to resolution of tax audits;

volume price discounts and customer rebates;

accounts receivable levels that we maintain;

acquisitions and/or funding of other businesses, assets, products, or technologies;

changes in our compensation policies;

capital improvements for new and existing facilities;

technological advances;

our competitors' responses to our products and/or pricing;

our relationships with suppliers, partners, and customers;

possible future investments in raw material and finished goods inventories;

expenses related to future restructuring plans;

•ax expense associated with share-based awards;

### **Table of Contents**

issuance of share-based awards and the related payment in cash for withholding taxes in the current year and possibly during future years;

level of exercises of stock options and stock purchases under our equity incentive plans; and

general economic conditions and specific conditions in our industry and markets, including the effects of disruptions in global credit and financial markets, international conflicts, and related uncertainties.

Factors That May Affect Future Results

A description of the risk factors associated with our business is included under "Risk Factors" in Item 1A of Part II of this Report.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Our exposures to market risk have not changed materially since December 31, 2013. For quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk, see Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk, in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Attached, as exhibits to this report are certifications of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, which are required in accordance with Rule 13a-14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"). This "Controls and Procedures" section includes information concerning the controls and related evaluations referred to in the certifications and it should be read in conjunction with the certifications for a more complete understanding of the topics presented.

We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act. Based upon that evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that, as of the end of the period covered in this report, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms and is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting

During the second quarter of 2014, we implemented the purchasing and disbursements portion of our multi-phase conversion to a new enterprise resource planning ("ERP") system. In the third quarter of 2014, we implemented the manufacturing, fulfillment, and inventory portion of our multi-phase conversion to a new ERP system. Additional interim internal controls were put into operation due to reliance on two ERP systems until completion of the conversion project. We will continue to enhance the design and level of automation of our controls concurrent with system conversion over the next several quarters.

Except as described above, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the third quarter of 2014 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### PART II — OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

The information set forth under the "Legal Proceedings" section in Note 17, Commitments and Contingencies, in Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 1 of Part I of this Report, is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Factors That May Affect Future Results

Investments in our securities involve significant risks. Even small changes in investor expectations for our future growth and earnings, whether as a result of actual or rumored financial or operating results, changes in the mix of the products and services sold, acquisitions, industry changes, or other factors, could trigger, and have triggered in the past, significant fluctuations in the market price of our common stock. Investors in our securities should carefully consider all of the relevant factors disclosed by us, including, but not limited to, the following factors, that could affect our business, operating results and stock price.

Our quarterly results are unpredictable and subject to substantial fluctuations; as a result, we may fail to meet the expectations of securities analysts and investors, which could adversely affect the trading price of our common stock.

Our revenues and operating results may vary significantly from quarter-to-quarter due to a number of factors, many of which are outside of our control and any of which may cause our stock price to fluctuate.

The factors that may cause our quarterly results to vary quarter by quarter and be unpredictable include, but are not limited to: limited visibility into customer spending plans, changes in the mix of products and services sold, changes in the mix of geographies in which our products and services are sold, changing market and economic conditions, current and potential customer consolidation, competition, customer concentration, long sales and implementation cycles, unpredictable ordering patterns, changes in the amount and frequency of share repurchases or dividends, regional economic and political conditions, and seasonality. For example, we, and many companies in our industry, experience adverse seasonal fluctuations in customer spending, particularly in the first quarter. Furthermore market trends, competitive pressures, commoditization of products, seasonal rebates, increased component or shipping costs, regulatory impacts and other factors may result in reductions in revenue or pressure on gross margins of certain segments in a given period, which may necessitate adjustments to our operations. Such adjustments may be difficult or impossible to execute in the short or medium term.

As a result of these factors, as well as other variables affecting our operating results, we believe that quarter-to-quarter comparisons of operating results are not necessarily a good indication of what our future performance will be. It is likely that in some quarters, our operating results will be below our guidance, our long-term financial model or the expectations of securities analysts or investors, in which case the price of our common stock may decline. Such a decline could occur, and has occurred in the past, even when we have met our publicly stated revenues and/or earnings guidance.

A limited number of our customers comprise a significant portion of our revenues and there is an ongoing trend toward consolidation in the industry in which our customers and partners operate. Any decrease in revenues from our customers or partners could have an adverse effect on our net revenues and operating results.

A substantial majority of our net revenues depend on sales to a limited number of customers and distribution partners, particularly in our service provider market. Changes in the business requirements, vendor selection, project

prioritization, financial prospects, capital resources, and expenditures, or purchasing behavior (including product mix purchased) of our key customers could significantly decrease our sales to such customers or could lead to delays or cancellations of planned purchases of our products or services, which increases the risk of quarterly fluctuations in our revenues and operating results. Any of these factors could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

In addition, in recent years, there has been movement towards consolidation in the telecommunications industry (for example, the acquisition of Global Crossing by Level 3 Communications, Softbank's purchase of a controlling interest in Sprint Nextel and Sprint Nextel's proposed acquisition of TMobile, AT&T's proposed acquisition of DirectTV, and Comcast's proposed acquisition of Time Warner Cable) and that consolidation trend has continued. If our customers or partners are parties to consolidation transactions they may delay, suspend or indefinitely reduce or cancel their purchases of our products or other direct or indirect unforeseen consequences could harm our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

### **Table of Contents**

Fluctuating economic conditions make it difficult to predict revenues for a particular period and a shortfall in revenues or increase in costs of production may harm our operating results.

Our revenues and gross margin depend significantly on general economic conditions and the demand for products in the markets in which we compete. Economic weakness, customer financial difficulties, and constrained spending on network expansion and enterprise infrastructure have in the past resulted in, and may in the future result in, decreased revenues and earnings. Such factors could make it difficult to accurately forecast sales and operating results and could negatively affect our ability to provide accurate forecasts to our contract manufacturers and manage our contract manufacturer relationships and other expenses. In addition, economic uncertainty, as well as continued turmoil in the geopolitical environment in many parts of the world, including Ukraine, have, and may continue to, put pressure on global economic conditions, which has led, and could continue to lead, to reduced demand for our products, to delays or reductions in network expansions or infrastructure projects, and/or higher costs of production. Economic weakness may also lead to longer collection cycles for payments due from our customers, an increase in customer bad debt, restructuring initiatives and associated expenses, and impairment of investments. Furthermore, instability in the global credit markets may adversely impact the ability of our customers to adequately fund their expected capital expenditures, which could lead to delays or cancellations of planned purchases of our products or services. Our operating expenses are largely based on anticipated revenue trends and a high percentage of our expenses is, and will continue to be, fixed in the short and medium term. Therefore, fluctuations in revenue could cause significant variations in our operating results and operating margins from quarter to quarter.

Uncertainty about future economic conditions also makes it difficult to forecast operating results and to make decisions about future investments. Future or continued economic weakness, failure of our customers and markets to recover from such weakness, customer financial difficulties, increases in costs of production, and reductions in spending on network maintenance and expansion could have a material adverse effect on demand for our products and consequently on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Our success depends upon our ability to effectively plan and manage our resources and restructure our business through rapidly fluctuating economic and market conditions, and such actions may have an adverse effect on our financial and operating results.

Our ability to successfully offer our products and services in a rapidly evolving market requires an effective planning, forecasting, and management process to enable us to effectively scale and adjust our business in response to fluctuating market opportunities and conditions.

In periods of market expansion, we have increased investment in our business by, for example, increasing headcount and increasing our investment in R&D, sales and marketing, and other parts of our business. Conversely, in the first half of 2014, to refocus the Company's strategy, optimize its structure and improve operational efficiencies in connection with our integrated operating plan, or IOP, we implemented a new strategic focus on High-IQ Networks and best-in-class cloud environments, realigned our organization into a One-Juniper structure, reduced our workforce, consolidated and closed facilities, made changes to enhance efficiency, improved cost management measures and instituted new capital allocation plan. In connection with cost management, we implemented a substantial cost reduction plan accomplished through various restructuring activities across research and development, sales and marketing and general and administrative. Some of our expenses are fixed costs that cannot be rapidly or easily adjusted in response to fluctuations in our business or numbers of employees. Rapid changes in the size, alignment or organization of our workforce, including sales account coverage, could adversely affect our ability to develop and deliver products and services as planned or impair our ability to realize our current or future business and financial objectives. Our ability to achieve the anticipated cost savings and other benefits from our restructuring initiatives within the expected time frame is subject to many estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions are subject to significant economic, competitive and other uncertainties, some of which are beyond our control. If these

estimates and assumptions are incorrect, if we are unsuccessful at implementing changes, or if other unforeseen events occur, our business and results of operations could be adversely affected.

The long sales and implementation cycles for our products, as well as our expectation that some customers will sporadically place large orders with short lead times, may cause our revenues and operating results to vary significantly from quarter-to-quarter.

A customer's decision to purchase certain of our products, particularly new products, involves a significant commitment of its resources and a lengthy evaluation and product qualification process. As a result, the sales cycle may be lengthy. In particular, customers making critical decisions regarding the design and implementation of large network deployments may engage in very lengthy procurement processes that may delay or impact expected future orders. Throughout the sales cycle, we may spend considerable time educating and providing information to prospective customers regarding the use and benefits of our products.

### **Table of Contents**

Even after making the decision to purchase, customers may deploy our products slowly and deliberately. Timing of deployment can vary widely and depends on the skill set of the customer, the size of the network deployment, the complexity of the customer's network environment, and the degree of hardware and operating system configuration necessary to deploy the products. Customers with large networks usually expand their networks in large increments on a periodic basis. Accordingly, we may receive purchase orders for significant dollar amounts on an irregular basis. These long cycles, as well as our expectation that customers will tend to sporadically place large orders with short lead times, both of which may be exacerbated by the impact of continued global economic weakness, may cause revenues and operating results to vary significantly and unexpectedly from quarter-to-quarter.

We face intense competition that could reduce our revenues and adversely affect our business and financial results.

Competition is intense in the markets that we address. The network equipment market has historically been dominated by Cisco, with competition coming from other companies such as Alcatel-Lucent, Brocade, Extreme Networks, Hewlett Packard Company, and Huawei. In the security market, we face intense competition from these same companies as well as companies such as Check Point, F5 Networks, Fortinet, and Palo Alto Networks. Further, a number of other small public and private companies have products or have announced plans for new products to address the same challenges and markets that our products address.

In addition, actual or speculated consolidation among competitors, or the acquisition of our partners and/or resellers by competitors, can increase the competitive pressures faced by us, as customers may delay spending decisions or not purchase our products at all. For example, in 2013, Oracle acquired Acme Packet, Inc., and Cisco acquired Meraki Networks, Inc. and Sourcefire, Inc., which further consolidated our market. A number of our competitors have substantially greater resources and can offer a wider range of products and services for the overall network equipment market than we do. If we are unable to compete successfully against existing and future competitors on the basis of product offerings or price, we could experience a loss in market share and revenues and/or be required to reduce prices, which could reduce our gross margins, and which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We expect our gross margins and operating margins to vary over time, and the level of product gross margins achieved by us in recent years may not be sustainable.

We expect our product gross margins to vary from quarter-to-quarter, and the gross margins we have achieved in recent years may not be sustainable and may be adversely affected in the future by numerous factors, including customer, product and geographic mix shifts, increased price competition in one or more of the markets in which we compete, increases in material, labor, or inventory carrying costs, excess product component or obsolescence charges from our contract manufacturers, increased costs due to changes in component pricing or charges incurred due to component holding periods if we do not accurately forecast product demand, warranty related issues, or our introduction of new products or entry into new markets with different pricing and cost structures. For example, in the third quarter of 2012, our margins declined as a result of an inventory charge resulting from inventory we held in excess of forecasted demand. We determine our operating expenses largely on the basis of anticipated revenues and a high percentage of our expenses are fixed in the short and medium term. As a result, a failure or delay in generating or recognizing revenue could cause significant variations in our operating results and operating margin from quarter-to-quarter. Failure to sustain or improve our gross margins reduces our profitability and may have a material adverse effect on our business and stock price.

Further, in early 2014, we announced our IOP, which in combination with our new cost reduction initiative, announced in October 2014, is intended to reduce our operating expenses and to focus on cost controls. We expect that our margins will, accordingly, vary with our ability to achieve the goals of the IOP as supplemented by the new cost reduction initiative, as well as our ability to maintain or increase our revenues. We can provide no assurance that

we will be able to achieve all of the goals of these plans or meet our announced expectations, in whole or in part, or that our plans will have the intended effect of improving our margins on the expected timeline, or at all.

To the extent we receive product orders late in a quarter, we may be unable to recognize revenue for these orders in the same period, which could adversely affect our quarterly revenues.

Generally, our network equipment products are not stocked by distributors or resellers due to their cost and complexity and the custom nature of configurations required by our customers; we generally build such products as orders are received. In recent years, the volume of orders received late in any given fiscal quarter has generally continued to increase but remains unpredictable. If orders for certain products are received late in any quarter, we may not be able to recognize revenue for these orders in the same period, which could adversely affect our ability to meet our expected revenues for such quarter. Additionally, we determine our operating expenses largely on the basis of anticipated revenues and a high percentage of our expenses are fixed in the short and medium term. As a result, a failure or delay in generating or recognizing revenue could cause significant variations in our operating results and operating margin from quarter-to-quarter.

#### **Table of Contents**

Conversion of key internal systems and processes, particularly our ERP system, and problems with the design or implementation of these systems and processes could interfere with, and therefore harm, our business and operations.

We have underway a multi-phase project to convert certain key internal systems and processes, including our customer relationship management ("CRM") system and enterprise resource planning ("ERP") system. Since 2012, we have been implementing major changes to our ERP system, which activities we expect to continue into 2015. In the third quarter of 2014, we implemented the manufacturing, fulfillment, and inventory portion of this ERP project and we are now reliant upon dual ERP systems until completion of the conversion. We have invested, and will continue to invest, significant capital and human resources in the design and implementation of these systems and processes. Any problems, disruptions, delays or other issues in the design and implementation of the new systems or processes, particularly any that impact our operations, could adversely affect our ability to process customer orders, ship products, provide service and support to our customers, bill and track our customers, collect cash from our customers, maintain our DSO measure, fulfill contractual obligations, record and transfer information in a timely and accurate manner, recognize revenue, file SEC reports in a timely manner, or otherwise run our business. Even if we do not encounter these adverse effects, the design and implementation of these new systems and processes may be much more costly than we anticipated. If we are unable to successfully design and implement these new systems and processes as planned, or if the implementation of these systems and processes is more lengthy or costly than anticipated, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be negatively impacted.

We are dependent on sole source and limited source suppliers for several key components, which makes us susceptible to shortages or price fluctuations in our supply chain, and we may face increased challenges in supply chain management in the future.

We rely on single or limited sources of certain of our components. During periods of high demand for electronic products, component shortages are possible, and the predictability of the availability of such components may be limited. Any future growth in our business, IT spending and the economy in general is likely to create greater pressures on us and our suppliers to accurately forecast overall component demand and to establish optimal component inventories. If shortages or delays persist, the price of these components may increase, or the components may not be available at all. We may not be able to secure enough components at reasonable prices or of acceptable quality to build new products in a timely manner, and our revenues and gross margins could suffer until other sources can be developed. For example, from time to time, we have experienced component shortages that resulted in delays of product shipments. We currently purchase numerous key components, including ASICs, from single or limited sources. The development of alternate sources for those components is time-consuming, difficult, and costly. In addition, the lead times associated with certain components are lengthy and preclude rapid changes in quantities and delivery schedules. Also, long-term supply and maintenance obligations to customers increase the duration for which specific components are required, which may further increase the risk of component shortages or the cost of carrying inventory. In the event of a component shortage or supply interruption from these suppliers, we may not be able to develop alternate or second sources in a timely manner. If we are unable to buy these components in quantities sufficient to meet our requirements on a timely basis, we will not be able to deliver products and services to our customers, which would seriously affect present and future sales, which would, in turn, adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

In addition, the development, licensing, or acquisition of new products in the future may increase the complexity of supply chain management. Failure to effectively manage the supply of key components and products would adversely affect our business.

We rely on value-added and other resellers, as well as distribution partners, to sell our products, and disruptions to, or our failure to effectively develop and manage, our distribution channel and the processes and procedures that support it could adversely affect our ability to generate revenues from the sale of our products.

Our future success is highly dependent upon establishing and maintaining successful relationships with a variety of value-added and other reseller and distribution partners, including our worldwide strategic partners such as Ericsson, IBM, and NSN. The majority of our revenues are derived through value-added resellers and distributors, most of which also sell our competitors' products, and some of which sell their own competing products. Our revenues depend in part on the performance of these partners. The loss of or reduction in sales to our resellers or distributors could materially reduce our revenues. For example, in 2011 and 2012, one of our OEM partners, Dell, acquired Force10 and SonicWall, both competitors of ours. As a result, Dell became increasingly competitive in certain areas, their resale of our products declined, and we ultimately terminated our OEM relationship with Dell. Our competitors may in some cases be effective in leveraging their market share positions or in providing incentives to current or potential resellers and distributors to favor their products or to prevent or reduce sales of our products. If we fail to develop and maintain relationships with our partners, fail to develop new relationships with value-added resellers and distributors

### **Table of Contents**

in new markets, fail to expand the number of distributors and resellers in existing markets, fail to manage, train or motivate existing value-added resellers and distributors effectively, or if these partners are not successful in their sales efforts, sales of our products may decrease, and our business, financial condition, and results of operations would suffer.

In addition, we recognize a portion of our revenues based on a sell-through model using information provided by our distributors. If those distributors provide us with inaccurate or untimely information, the amount or timing of our revenues could be adversely impacted.

Further, in order to develop and expand our distribution channel, we must continue to offer attractive channel programs to potential partners and scale and improve our processes and procedures that support the channel. As a result, our programs, processes and procedures may become increasingly complex and inherently difficult to manage. We have previously entered into OEM agreements with partners pursuant to which they rebrand and resell our products as part of their product portfolios. These types of relationships are complex and require additional processes and procedures that may be challenging and costly to implement, maintain and manage. Our failure to successfully manage and develop our distribution channel and the programs, processes and procedures that support it could adversely affect our ability to generate revenues from the sale of our products.

Our ability to process orders and ship products in a timely manner is dependent in part on our business systems and performance of the systems and processes of third parties such as our contract manufacturers, suppliers, or other partners, as well as the interfaces between our systems and the systems of such third parties. If our systems, the systems and processes of those third parties, or the interfaces between them experience delays or fail, our business processes and our ability to build and ship products could be impacted, and our financial results could be harmed.

Some of our business processes depend upon our information technology ("IT") systems, the systems and processes of third parties, and the interfaces of our systems with the systems of third parties. For example, our order entry system feeds information into the systems of our contract manufacturers, which enables them to build and ship our products. If those systems fail or are interrupted, our processes may function at a diminished level or not at all. This could negatively impact our ability to ship products or otherwise operate our business, and our financial results could be harmed. For example, although it did not adversely affect our shipments, an earthquake in late December of 2006 disrupted our communications with China, where a significant part of our manufacturing occurs. In addition, as discussed earlier in this "Risk Factors" section, beginning in 2012 and continuing into 2015, we have been implementing major changes to our enterprise resource planning system. Any failure of the new system or interruptions during the transition may impair communications with our manufacturers, and, therefore, adversely affect our ability to build and ship our products.

We also rely upon the performance of the systems and processes of our contract manufacturers to build and ship our products. If those systems and processes experience interruption or delay, our ability to build and ship our products in a timely manner may be harmed. For example, we have experienced instances where our contract manufacturers were not able to ship products in the time periods expected by us, which prevented us from meeting our commitments to our customers. If we are not able to ship our products or if product shipments are delayed, our ability to recognize revenue in a timely manner for those products would be affected and our financial results could be harmed.

Telecommunications and Web 2.0 service provider companies and our other large customers generally require onerous terms and conditions in our contracts with them. As we seek to sell more products to such customers, we may be required to agree to terms and conditions that could have an adverse effect on our business or ability to recognize revenues.

Telecommunications and Web 2.0 service provider companies, which comprise a significant portion of our customer base, and other large companies, generally have greater purchasing power than smaller entities and, accordingly, often request and receive more favorable terms from suppliers. Recently, our customers, France Telecom-Orange and Deutsche Telekom AG have formed a company for the purpose of purchasing products from, and negotiating more favorable contractual terms with, suppliers. As we seek to sell more products to this class of customer, we may be required to agree to such terms and conditions, which may include terms that affect the timing of our ability to recognize revenue and have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. Consolidation among such large customers can further increase their buying power and ability to require onerous terms.

In addition, service providers have purchased products from other vendors who promised but failed to deliver certain functionality and/or had products that caused problems or outages in the networks of these customers. As a result, these customers may request additional features from us and require substantial penalties for failure to deliver such features or may require substantial penalties

#### **Table of Contents**

for any network outages that may be caused by our products. These additional requests and penalties, if we are required to agree to them, may require us to defer revenue recognition from such sales, which may negatively affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

System security risks, data protection breaches, and cyber-attacks could compromise our proprietary information, disrupt our internal operations and harm public perception of our products, which could cause our business and reputation to suffer and adversely affect our stock price.

In the ordinary course of business, we store sensitive data, including intellectual property, our proprietary business information and that of our customers, suppliers and business partners on our networks. The secure maintenance of this information is critical to our operations and business strategy. Increasingly, companies, including us, are subject to a wide variety of attacks on their networks on an ongoing basis. Despite our security measures, our information technology and infrastructure may be vulnerable to penetration or attacks by computer programmers and hackers, or breached due to employee error, malfeasance or other disruptions. Any such breach could compromise our networks, creating system disruptions or slowdowns and exploiting security vulnerabilities of our products, and the information stored on our networks could be accessed, publicly disclosed, lost or stolen, which could subject us to liability to our customers, suppliers, business partners and others, and cause us reputational and financial harm. In addition, sophisticated hardware and operating system software and applications that we produce or procure from third parties may contain defects in design or manufacture, including "bugs" and other problems that could unexpectedly interfere with the operation of our networks.

If an actual or perceived breach of network security occurs in our network or in the network of a customer of our products, regardless of whether the breach is attributable to our products, the market perception of the effectiveness of our products could be harmed. Because the techniques used by computer programmers and hackers, many of whom are highly sophisticated and well-funded, to access or sabotage networks change frequently and generally are not recognized until after they are used, we may be unable to anticipate or immediately detect these techniques. This could impede our sales, manufacturing, distribution or other critical functions. In addition, the economic costs to us to eliminate or alleviate cyber or other security problems, bugs, viruses, worms, malicious software systems and security vulnerabilities could be significant and may be difficult to anticipate or measure because the damage may differ based on the identity and motive of the programmer or hacker, which are often difficult to pinpoint.

Regulation of industry in general and the telecommunications industry in particular could harm our operating results and future prospects.

We are subject to laws and regulations affecting the sale of our products in a number of areas. For example, some governments have regulations prohibiting government entities from purchasing security products that do not meet specified indigenous certification criteria, even though those criteria may be in conflict with accepted international standards. Other regulations that may negatively impact our business include country of origin regulations. These types of regulations are in effect or under consideration in several jurisdictions where we do business.

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act includes disclosure requirements regarding the use of "conflict minerals" mined from the Democratic Republic of Congo and adjoining countries ("DRC") and procedures regarding a manufacturer's efforts to prevent the sourcing of such "conflict minerals." These minerals are present in our products. SEC rules implementing these requirements may have the effect of reducing the pool of suppliers who can supply DRC "conflict free" components and parts, and we may not be able to obtain DRC conflict free products or supplies in sufficient quantities for our operations. Since our supply chain is complex, we may face reputational challenges with our customers, stockholders and other stakeholders if we are unable to sufficiently verify the origins for the "conflict minerals" used in our products.

In addition, environmental regulations relevant to electronic equipment manufacturing or operations may impact our business and financial condition adversely. For instance, the European Union and China have adopted WEEE and ROHS regulations, which require producers of electrical and electronic equipment to assume responsibility for collecting, treating, recycling and disposing of products when they have reached the end of their useful life, as well as REACH regulations, which regulate handling of certain chemical substances that may be used in our products.

The traditional telecommunications industry is highly regulated, and our business and financial condition could be adversely affected by changes in regulations relating to the Internet telecommunications industry. Currently, there are few laws or regulations that apply directly to access to or commerce on IP networks, but future regulations could include sales taxes on products sold via the Internet and Internet service provider access charges. We could be adversely affected by regulation of IP networks and commerce in any country where we market equipment and services to service or Web 2.0. Regulations governing the range of services and business models that can be offered by service providers or Web 2.0 could adversely affect those customers' needs for products

#### **Table of Contents**

designed to enable a wide range of such services or business models. For instance, the U.S. Federal Communications Commission has issued regulations governing aspects of fixed broadband networks and wireless networks; these regulations might impact service provider and Web 2.0 business models and as such, providers' needs for Internet telecommunications equipment and services. Also, many jurisdictions are evaluating or implementing regulations relating to cyber security, supply chain integrity, privacy and data protection, any of which can affect the market and requirements for networking and security equipment.

The adoption and implementation of such regulations could reduce demand for our products, increase the cost of building and selling our products, result in product inventory write-offs, impact our ability to ship products into affected areas and recognize revenue in a timely manner and require us to spend significant time and expense to comply, and we could face fines and civil or criminal sanctions or claims if we were to violate or become liable under such regulations. Any of these impacts could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Governmental regulations affecting the import or export of products or affecting products containing encryption capabilities could negatively affect our revenues.

The United States and various foreign governments have imposed controls, export license requirements, and restrictions on the import or export of, among other things, encryption technology. Certain of our products contain or use encryption technology. In addition, from time to time, governmental agencies have proposed additional regulation of encryption technology, such as requiring certification, notifications, review of source code, or the escrow and governmental recovery of private encryption keys. For example, Russia and China recently have implemented new requirements relating to products containing encryption and India has imposed special warranty and other obligations associated with technology deemed critical. Governmental regulation of encryption or IP networking technology and regulation of imports or exports, or our failure to obtain required import or export approval for our products, or export sanctions, including recent restrictions on exports to Russia, could harm our international and domestic sales and adversely affect our revenues. In addition, failure to comply with such regulations could result in harm to our reputation, penalties, costs, and restrictions on import or export privileges or adversely affect sales to government agencies or government-funded projects.

If we do not successfully anticipate technological shifts, market needs and opportunities, and develop products and product enhancements that meet those technological shifts, needs and opportunities, or if those products are not made available in a timely manner or do not gain market acceptance, we may not be able to compete effectively and our ability to generate revenues will suffer.

We cannot guarantee that we will be able to anticipate future technological shifts, market needs and opportunities or be able to develop new products or product enhancements to meet such technological shifts, needs or opportunities in a timely manner or at all. For example, the move from traditional network infrastructures towards software-defined networking, or SDN, has been receiving considerable attention. In our view, it will take several years to see the full impact of SDN, and we believe the successful products and solutions in this market will combine hardware and software elements. If we fail to anticipate market requirements or fail to develop and introduce new products or product enhancements to meet those requirements in a timely manner, it could cause us to lose customers, and such failure could substantially decrease or delay market acceptance and sales of our present and future products, which would significantly harm our business, financial condition, and results of operations. Even if we are able to anticipate, develop, and commercially introduce new products and enhancements, there can be no assurance that new products or enhancements will achieve widespread market acceptance.

In addition, in the past two years, we have announced new products, including the QF5100, T4000 Core Router, EX9200 Ethernet Switch, MX Series Routers, PTX 3000 Packet Transport Router, and Juniper Networks Contrail. If

these or other new products do not gain market acceptance at a sufficient rate of growth, our ability to meet future financial targets and aspirations may be adversely affected. In addition, if we fail to deliver new or announced products to the market in a timely manner, it could adversely affect the market acceptance of those products and harm our competitive position and our business and financial results.

Our ability to develop, market, and sell products could be harmed if we are unable to retain or hire key personnel.

Our future success depends upon our ability to recruit and retain the services of executive, engineering, sales and marketing, and support personnel. The supply of highly qualified individuals, in particular engineers in very specialized technical areas, or sales people specializing in the service provider and enterprise markets, is limited and competition for such individuals is intense. None of our officers or key employees is bound by an employment agreement for any specific term. The loss of the services of any of our key employees, the inability to attract or retain personnel in the future or delays in hiring required personnel, engineers and sales people, and the complexity and time involved in replacing or training new employees, could delay the development and introduction of new products, and negatively impact our ability to market, sell, or support our products.

#### **Table of Contents**

We are a party to lawsuits, investigations, proceedings, and other disputes, which are costly to defend and, if determined adversely to us, could require us to pay fines or damages, undertake remedial measures or prevent us from taking certain actions, any or all of which could harm our business, results of operations, financial condition or cash flows.

We, and certain of our current and former officers and current and former members of our Board of Directors, have been or are subject to various lawsuits. We have been served with lawsuits related to employment matters, commercial transactions and patent infringement, as well as securities laws. A description of the securities lawsuits can be found in Note 17, Commitments and Contingencies, in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements of this Report, under the heading "Legal Proceedings." In addition, as noted under the heading of "Legal Proceedings", the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission and the U.S. Department of Justice are conducting investigations into possible violations by the Company of the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act. Gifts, travel, or entertainment offered or provided by our employees or channel partners could give rise to possible violations of the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act or other applicable laws. Litigation and investigations are inherently uncertain. We therefore cannot predict the duration, scope, outcome or consequences of these matters. There can be no assurance that these or any actions or investigations that have been or may in the future be brought against us, our officers, and our directors will be resolved favorably. In connection with any government investigations, in the event the government takes action against us or the parties enter into an agreement to settle the matter, we may be required to pay substantial fines and/or incur other sanctions. The lawsuits and investigations are expensive and time-consuming to defend, settle, and/or resolve, and may require us to implement certain remedial measures that could prove costly or disruptive to our business and operations. The unfavorable resolution of one or more of these matters could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition or cash flows.

We are a party to litigation and claims regarding intellectual property rights, resolution of which may be time-consuming and expensive, as well as require a significant amount of resources to prosecute, defend, or make our products non-infringing.

Our industry is characterized by the existence of a large number of patents and frequent claims and related litigation regarding patent and other intellectual property rights. We expect that infringement claims may increase as the number of products and competitors in our market increases and overlaps occur. Third parties have asserted and may in the future assert claims or initiate litigation related to patent, copyright, trademark, and other intellectual property rights to technologies and related standards that are relevant to our products. The asserted claims and/or initiated litigation may include claims against us or our manufacturers, suppliers, partners, or customers, alleging that our products or services infringe proprietary rights. Regardless of the merit of these claims, they have been and can be time-consuming, result in costly litigation, and may require us to develop non-infringing technologies, enter into license agreements, or cease engaging in certain activities or offering certain products or services. Furthermore, because of the potential for high awards of damages or injunctive relief that are not necessarily predictable, even arguably unmeritorious claims may be settled for significant amounts of money. If any infringement or other intellectual property claim made against us by any third-party is successful, if we are required to settle litigation for significant amounts of money, or if we fail to develop non-infringing technology or license required proprietary rights on commercially reasonable terms and conditions, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

Our financial condition and results of operations could suffer if there is an additional impairment of goodwill or other intangible assets with indefinite lives.

We are required to test intangible assets with indefinite lives, including goodwill, annually and on an interim basis if an event occurs or there is a change in circumstance that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of reporting units and intangible assets below their carrying values. As of September 30, 2014, our goodwill was \$3,911.7 million and there were no intangible assets with indefinite lives. When the carrying value of a reporting unit's goodwill

exceeds its implied fair value of goodwill, a charge to operations is recorded. If the carrying amount of an intangible asset with an indefinite life exceeds its fair value, a charge to operations is recognized. Either event would result in incremental expenses for that quarter, which would reduce any earnings or increase any loss for the period in which the impairment was determined to have occurred.

In the past, we experienced a reduction of \$1,280.0 million to the carrying value of goodwill on our Consolidated Balance Sheet, primarily due to the decline in our market capitalization that occurred over a period of approximately nine months prior to the impairment review and, to a lesser extent, to a decrease in forecasted future cash flows.

In recent years, economic weakness has contributed to extreme price and volume fluctuations in global stock markets that have reduced the market price of many technology company stocks, including ours. Declines in our level of revenues or operating margins, as well as sustained declines in our stock price, increase the risk that goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives may become impaired in future periods.

#### **Table of Contents**

Our goodwill impairment analysis is sensitive to changes in key assumptions used in our analysis, such as expected future cash flows, the degree of volatility in equity and debt markets, and our stock price. If the assumptions used in our analysis are not realized, it is possible that an impairment charge may need to be recorded in the future. We cannot accurately predict the amount and timing of any impairment of goodwill or other intangible assets. However, any such impairment would have an adverse effect on our results of operations.

Changes in effective tax rates or adverse outcomes resulting from examination of our income or other tax returns could adversely affect our results.

Our future effective tax rates could be subject to volatility or adversely affected by the following: earnings being lower than anticipated in countries where we have lower statutory rates and higher than anticipated earnings in countries where we have higher statutory rates; changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets and liabilities; expiration of, or lapses in, the R&D tax credit laws applicable to us; transfer pricing adjustments related to certain acquisitions, including the license of acquired intangibles under our intercompany R&D cost sharing arrangement; costs related to intercompany restructuring; tax effects of share-based compensation; or changes in tax laws, regulations, accounting principles, or interpretations thereof. The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), an international association of 34 countries including the U.S., is contemplating changes to numerous long-standing tax principles. These contemplated changes, if finalized and adopted by countries, will increase tax uncertainty and may adversely affect our provision for income taxes. In addition, we are subject to the continuous examination of our income tax returns by the Internal Revenue Service and other tax authorities. We regularly assess the likelihood of adverse outcomes resulting from these examinations to determine the adequacy of our provision for income taxes. There can be no assurance that the outcomes from these continuous examinations will not have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

If we fail to accurately predict our manufacturing requirements, we could incur additional costs or experience manufacturing delays, which would harm our business.

We provide demand forecasts to our contract manufacturers, who order components and plan capacity based on these forecasts. If we overestimate our requirements, our contract manufacturers may assess charges, or we may have liabilities for excess inventory, each of which could negatively affect our gross margins. For example, in the third quarter of 2012, our gross margins were reduced as a result of an inventory charge resulting from inventory we held in excess of forecasted demand. Conversely, because lead times for required materials and components vary significantly and depend on factors such as the specific supplier, contract terms, and the demand for each component at a given time, and because our contract manufacturers are third-party manufacturers for numerous other companies, if we underestimate our requirements, as we did in the third quarter of 2010 with respect to certain components, our contract manufacturers may have inadequate time, materials, and/or components required to produce our products, which could increase costs or delay or interrupt manufacturing of our products resulting in delays in shipments and deferral or loss of revenues.

We are dependent on contract manufacturers with whom we do not have long-term supply contracts, and changes to those relationships, expected or unexpected, may result in delays or disruptions that could cause us to lose revenues and damage our customer relationships.

We depend on independent contract manufacturers (each of which is a third-party manufacturer for numerous companies) to manufacture our products. Although we have contracts with our contract manufacturers, these contracts do not require them to manufacture our products on a long-term basis in any specific quantity or at any specific price. In addition, it is time-consuming and costly to qualify and implement additional contract manufacturer relationships. Therefore, if we fail to effectively manage our contract manufacturer relationships, which includes failing to provide accurate forecasts of our requirements, or if one or more of them experiences delays, disruptions, or quality control

problems in our manufacturing operations, or if we had to change or add additional contract manufacturers or contract manufacturing sites, our ability to ship products to our customers could be delayed. Also, the addition of manufacturing locations or contract manufacturers would increase the complexity of our supply chain management. Moreover, an increasing portion of our manufacturing is performed in China and other countries and is therefore subject to risks associated with doing business outside of the United States. Each of these factors could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We may face difficulties enforcing our proprietary rights which could adversely affect our ability to compete.

We generally rely on a combination of patents, copyrights, trademarks, and trade secret laws and contractual restrictions on disclosure of confidential and proprietary information, to establish and maintain proprietary rights in our technology and products. Although we have been issued numerous patents and other patent applications are currently pending, there can be no assurance that any of our patent applications will result in issued patents or that any of our patents or other proprietary rights will not be

#### **Table of Contents**

challenged, invalidated, infringed or circumvented or that our rights will, in fact, provide competitive advantages to us or protect our technology, any of which could result in costly product redesign efforts, discontinuance of certain product offerings and other competitive harm. Furthermore, the laws of some foreign countries may not protect our proprietary rights to the same extent as do the laws of the United States. The outcome of any actions taken in these foreign countries may be different than if such actions were determined under the laws of the United States. Although we are not dependent on any individual patents or group of patents for particular segments of the business for which we compete, if we are unable to protect our proprietary rights in a market, we may find ourselves at a competitive disadvantage to others who need not incur the substantial expense, time, and effort required to create innovative products that have enabled our success.

We are subject to risks arising from our international operations, which may adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We derive a majority of our revenues from our international operations, and we plan to continue expanding our business in international markets in the future. We conduct significant sales and customer support operations directly and indirectly through our distributors and VARs in countries throughout the world and depend on the operations of our contract manufacturers and suppliers that are located outside of the United States. In addition, a portion of our R&D and our general and administrative operations are conducted outside the United States. In some countries, we may experience reduced intellectual property protection.

As a result of our international operations, we are affected by economic, business, regulatory, social, and political conditions in foreign countries, including the following:

changes in general IT spending,

• the imposition of government controls, inclusive of critical infrastructure protection;

changes or limitations in trade protection laws or other regulatory requirements, which may affect our ability to import or export our products from various countries;

varying and potentially conflicting regulations;

fluctuations in local economies;

wage inflation or a tightening of the labor market; and

the impact of the following on service provider and government spending patterns: political considerations, unfavorable changes in tax treaties or laws, natural disasters, epidemic disease, labor unrest, earnings expatriation restrictions, misappropriation of intellectual property, military actions, acts of terrorism, political and social unrest and difficulties in staffing and managing international operations.

Any or all of these factors could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Moreover, local laws and customs in many countries differ significantly from or conflict with those in the United States or in other countries in which we operate. In many foreign countries, particularly in those with developing economies, it is common for others to engage in business practices that are prohibited by our internal policies and procedures or United States regulations applicable to us. There can be no assurance that our employees, contractors,

channel partners, and agents will not take actions in violation of our policies and procedures, which are designed to ensure compliance with U.S. and foreign laws and policies. Violations of laws or key control policies by our employees, contractors, channel partners, or agents could result in termination of our relationship, financial reporting problems, fines, and/or penalties for us, or prohibition on the importation or exportation of our products, and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We are exposed to fluctuations in currency exchange rates, which could negatively affect our financial condition and results of operations.

Because a majority of our business is conducted outside the United States, we face exposure to adverse movements in non-U.S. currency exchange rates. These exposures may change over time as business practices evolve and could have a material adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operations.

#### **Table of Contents**

The majority of our revenues and expenses are transacted in U.S. Dollars. We also have some transactions that are denominated in foreign currencies, primarily the British Pound, Euro, Indian Rupee, and Japanese Yen related to our sales and service operations outside of the United States. An increase in the value of the U.S. Dollar could increase the real cost to our customers of our products in those markets outside the United States in which we sell in U.S. Dollars, and a weakened U.S. Dollar could increase the cost of local operating expenses and procurement of raw materials to the extent we must purchase components in foreign currencies.

Currently, we hedge only those currency exposures associated with certain assets and liabilities denominated in nonfunctional currencies and periodically hedge anticipated foreign currency cash flows. The hedging activities undertaken by us are intended to offset the impact of currency fluctuations on certain nonfunctional currency assets and liabilities. However, such attempts to offset the impact of currency fluctuations are costly and no amount of hedging can be effective against all circumstances, including long-term declines in the value of the U.S. Dollar. If our attempts to hedge against these risks are not successful, or if long-term declines in the value of the U.S. Dollar persist, our financial condition and results of operations could be adversely impacted.

Integration of acquisitions could disrupt our business and harm our financial condition and stock price and may dilute the ownership of our stockholders.

We have made, and may continue to make, acquisitions in order to enhance our business. For example, in 2014, we acquired WANDL, Inc. and in 2012, we acquired Contrail Systems Inc. ("Contrail") and Mykonos Software, Inc. ("Mykonos"). Acquisitions involve numerous risks, including problems combining the purchased operations, technologies or products, unanticipated costs and liabilities, diversion of management's attention from our core businesses, adverse effects on existing business relationships with suppliers and customers, risks associated with entering markets in which we have no or limited prior experience, and potential loss of key employees. There can be no assurance that we will be able to integrate successfully any businesses, products, technologies, or personnel that we might acquire. The integration of businesses that we may acquire is likely to be a complex, time-consuming, and expensive process and we may not realize the anticipated revenues or other benefits associated with our acquisitions if we fail to successfully manage and operate the acquired business. If we fail in any acquisition integration efforts and are unable to efficiently operate as a combined organization utilizing common information and communication systems, operating procedures, financial controls, and human resources practices, our business, financial condition, and results of operations may be adversely affected.

In connection with certain acquisitions, we may agree to issue common stock or assume equity awards that dilute the ownership of our current stockholders, use a substantial portion of our cash resources, assume liabilities, record goodwill and amortizable intangible assets that will be subject to impairment testing on a regular basis and potential periodic impairment charges, incur amortization expenses related to certain intangible assets, and incur large and immediate write-offs and restructuring and other related expenses, all of which could harm our financial condition and results of operations.

The divestiture of our Junos® Pulse product portfolio could disrupt our business and may not yield the intended benefits.

We recently completed the sale of our Junos Pulse product portfolio to an affiliate of Siris Capital, a private equity firm, for total consideration of \$228.1 million, of which \$103.1 million was in cash, net of a \$21.9 million working capital adjustment, and \$125.0 million was in the form of an 18-month non-contingent interest bearing promissory note issued to the Company. Since approximately \$125.0 million of the transaction consideration is in the form of an 18-month non-contingent seller promissory note, there is also the risk that we may not receive the amount owed to us by the buyer under the note and that instead the Junos Pulse assets will return to us.

If we fail to adequately evolve our financial and managerial control and reporting systems and processes, our ability to manage and grow our business will be negatively affected.

Our ability to successfully offer our products and implement our business plan in a rapidly evolving market depends upon an effective planning and management process. We will need to continue to improve our financial and managerial control and our reporting systems and procedures in order to manage our business effectively in the future. If we fail to effectively implement improved systems and processes, our ability to manage our business, financial condition, and results of operations may be negatively affected.

#### **Table of Contents**

Our products are highly technical and if they contain undetected defects errors or malware or do not meet customer quality expectations, our business could be adversely affected, and we may be subject to additional costs or lawsuits or be required to pay damages in connection with any alleged or actual failure of our products and services.

Our products are highly technical and complex, are critical to the operation of many networks, and, in the case of our security products, provide and monitor network security and may protect valuable information. Our products have contained and may contain one or more undetected errors, defects, malware, or security vulnerabilities. Some errors in our products may only be discovered after a product has been installed and used by end-customers. Any errors, defects, malware or security vulnerabilities discovered in our products after commercial release could result in monetary penalties, loss of revenues or delay in revenue recognition, loss of customers, loss of future business and reputation, penalties, and increased service and warranty cost, any of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations. In addition, in the event an error, defect, malware, or vulnerability is attributable to a component supplied by a third-party vendor, we may not be able to recover from the vendor all of the costs of remediation that we may incur. In addition, we could face claims for product liability, tort, or breach of warranty or indemnification. Defending a lawsuit, regardless of its merit, is costly and may divert management's attention. If our business liability insurance coverage is inadequate, or future coverage is unavailable on acceptable terms or at all, our financial condition and results of operations could be harmed. Moreover, if our products fail to satisfy our customers' quality expectations for whatever reason, the perception of and the demand for our products could be adversely affected.

If our products do not interoperate with our customers' networks, installations will be delayed or cancelled and could harm our business.

Our products are designed to interface with our customers' existing networks, each of which have different specifications and utilize multiple protocol standards and products from other vendors. Many of our customers' networks contain multiple generations of products that have been added over time as these networks have grown and evolved. Our products must interoperate with many or all of the products within these networks as well as future products in order to meet our customers' requirements. If we find errors in the existing software or defects in the hardware used in our customers' networks, we may need to modify our software or hardware to fix or overcome these errors so that our products will interoperate and scale with the existing software and hardware, which could be costly and could negatively affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations. In addition, if our products do not interoperate with those of our customers' networks, demand for our products could be adversely affected or orders for our products could be cancelled. This could hurt our operating results, damage our reputation, and seriously harm our business and prospects.

Our products incorporate and rely upon licensed third-party technology, and if licenses of third-party technology do not continue to be available to us or are not available on terms acceptable to us, our revenues and ability to develop and introduce new products could be adversely affected.

We integrate licensed third-party technology into certain of our products. From time to time, we may be required to license additional technology from third-parties to develop new products or product enhancements. Third-party licenses may not be available or continue to be available to us on commercially reasonable terms. The failure to comply with the terms of any license, including free open source software, may result in our inability to continue to use such license. Our inability to maintain or re-license any third-party licenses required in our products or our inability to obtain third-party licenses necessary to develop new products and product enhancements, could require us, if possible, to develop substitute technology or obtain substitute technology of lower quality or performance standards or at a greater cost, any of which could delay or prevent product shipment and harm our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We sell our products to customers that use those products to build networks and IP infrastructure, and if the demand for network and IP systems does not continue to grow, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.

A substantial portion of our business and revenues depends on the growth of secure IP infrastructure and on the deployment of our products by customers that depend on the continued growth of IP services. As a result of changes in the economy, capital spending or the building of network capacity in excess of demand, all of which have in the past particularly affected telecommunications service providers, spending on IP infrastructure can vary, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. In addition, a number of our existing customers are evaluating the build-out of their next generation networks. During the decision-making period when the customers are determining the design of those networks and the selection of the equipment they will use in those networks, such customers may greatly reduce or suspend their

#### **Table of Contents**

spending on secure IP infrastructure. Such delays in purchases can make it more difficult to predict revenues from such customers can cause fluctuations in the level of spending by these customers and, even where our products are ultimately selected, can have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We are required to evaluate the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, and any adverse results from such evaluation may adversely affect investor perception, our stock price and cause us to incur additional expense.

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 requires our management to report on, and our independent auditors to attest to, the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. We have an ongoing program to perform the system and process evaluation and testing necessary to comply with these requirements. We have and will continue to incur significant expenses and devote management resources to Section 404 compliance on an ongoing basis. In the event that our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, or independent registered public accounting firm determine in the future that, our internal controls over financial reporting are not effective as defined under Section 404, investor perceptions may be adversely affected if our financial statements are not reliable and could cause a decline in the market price of our stock and otherwise negatively affect our liquidity and financial condition.

Failure to maintain our credit ratings could adversely affect our cost of funds and related margins, liquidity, competitive position and access to capital markets.

The major debt rating agencies routinely evaluate our debt. This evaluation is based on a number of factors, which include financial strength as well as transparency with rating agencies and timeliness of financial reporting. There can be no assurance that we will be able to maintain our credit ratings and failure to do so could adversely affect our cost of funds and related margins, liquidity, competitive position and access to capital markets.

We may be unable to generate the cash flow to service our debt obligations, including the Senior Notes and the Revolving Credit Facility.

In February 2014, we issued \$350.0 million aggregate principal amount of 4.50% senior unsecured notes due 2024 (the "2024 Notes") and in March 2011, we issued \$1.0 billion aggregate principal amount of senior unsecured notes (the "Senior Notes" and together with the 2024 Notes, the "Notes"), and (see discussion in Note 11, Long-Term Debt and Financing, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements of this Report). As of September 30, 2014, we had \$1,348.9 million in outstanding long-term debt. In June 2014, we entered into a Credit Agreement with certain institutional lenders that provides for a five year \$500.0 million unsecured Revolving Credit Facility, with an option to increase the credit facility, up to a maximum of \$700.0 million. The Credit Agreement will terminate in June 2019, at which point all amounts borrowed must be repaid. As of September 30, 2014, no amounts were outstanding under the Credit Agreement.

We may not be able to generate sufficient cash flow to enable us to service our indebtedness, including the Notes and the Revolving Credit Facility (if drawn upon) or to make anticipated capital expenditures. Our ability to pay our expenses and satisfy our debt obligations, refinance our debt obligations and fund planned capital expenditures will depend on our future performance, which will be affected by general economic, financial, competitive, legislative, regulatory and other factors beyond our control. Based upon current levels of operations, we believe cash flow from operations and available cash will be adequate for the foreseeable future to meet our anticipated requirements for working capital, capital expenditures and scheduled payments of principal and interest on our indebtedness, including the Notes and the Revolving Credit Facility (if drawn upon). However, if we are unable to generate sufficient cash flow from operations or to borrow sufficient funds in the future to service our debt, we may be required to sell assets, reduce capital expenditures, refinance all or a portion of our existing debt (including the Notes) or obtain additional financing. There is no assurance that we will be able to refinance our debt, sell assets or borrow more money on terms

acceptable to us, or at all.

The indentures that govern the Notes contain various covenants that limit our ability and the ability of our subsidiaries to, among other things:

incur liens;

incur sale and leaseback transactions; and

consolidate or merge with or into, or sell substantially all of our assets to, another person.

#### **Table of Contents**

The Credit Agreement contains two financial covenants along with customary affirmative and negative covenants that include the following:

maintenance of a leverage ratio no greater than 3.0x and an interest coverage ratio no less than 3.0x

covenants that limit or restrict the ability of the Company and its subsidiaries to, among other things, grant liens, merge or consolidate, dispose of all or substantially all of its assets, change their accounting or reporting policies, change their business and incur subsidiary indebtedness, in each case subject to customary exceptions for a credit facility of this size and type.

As a result of these covenants, we are limited in the manner in which we can conduct our business, and we may be unable to engage in favorable business activities or finance future operations or capital needs. Accordingly, these restrictions may limit our ability to successfully operate our business. A failure to comply with these restrictions could lead to an event of default, which could result in an acceleration of the indebtedness. Our future operating results may not be sufficient to enable compliance with these covenants to remedy any such default. In addition, in the event of an acceleration, we may not have or be able to obtain sufficient funds to make any accelerated payments, including those under the Senior Notes, any notes issued in connection with the recently-announced capital return program discussed above and the Revolving Credit Facility (if drawn upon).

Our failure to pay quarterly dividends to our stockholders or the failure to meet our commitments to return capital to our stockholders could have a material adverse effect on our stock price.

In October 2014, we announced a cash dividend of \$0.10 per share of common stock payable on December 23, 2014 to stockholders of record as of the close of business on December 2, 2014. Our ability to pay quarterly dividends will be subject to, among other things, our financial position and results of operations, available cash and cash flow, capital requirements and other factors. Any failure to pay or increase future dividends as announced, reduction or discontinuation of quarterly dividends could have a material adverse effect on our stock price.

In addition, our Board of Directors recently authorized a \$1.1 billion increase to our current capital return plan, which includes a planned \$1.5 billion of share repurchases before the end of the second quarter of 2015. The capital return plan will be funded by a combination of onshore cash, previously issued debt and potentially, additional debt financing, to preserve our financial flexibility to invest in future growth opportunities and maintain our investment grade credit rating. Any failure to meet our commitments to return capital to our shareholders could have a material adverse effect on our stock price.

The investment of our cash balance and our investments in government and corporate debt securities are subject to risks, which may cause losses and affect the liquidity of these investments.

At September 30, 2014, we had \$1,615.9 million in cash and cash equivalents and \$1,705.1 million in short- and long-term investments. We have invested these amounts primarily in asset-backed securities, certificates of deposit, commercial paper, corporate debt securities, foreign government debt securities, government- sponsored enterprise obligations, money market funds, mutual funds, publicly-traded equity securities and U.S. government securities. Certain of these investments are subject to general credit, liquidity, market, sovereign debt, and interest rate risks. Our future investment income may fall short of expectations due to changes in interest rates or if the decline in fair value of our publicly traded debt or equity investments is judged to be other-than-temporary. These market risks associated with our investment portfolio may have a material adverse effect on our liquidity, financial condition, and results of operations.

Uninsured losses could harm our operating results.

We self-insure against many business risks and expenses, such as intellectual property litigation and our medical benefit programs, where we believe we can adequately self-insure against the anticipated exposure and risk or where insurance is either not deemed cost-effective or is not available. We also maintain a program of insurance coverage for various types of property, casualty, and other risks. We place our insurance coverage with various carriers in numerous jurisdictions. The types and amounts of insurance that we obtain vary from time to time and from location to location, depending on availability, cost, and our decisions with respect to risk retention. The policies are subject to deductibles, policy limits, and exclusions that result in our retention of a level of risk on a self-insurance basis. Losses not covered by insurance could be substantial and unpredictable and could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

#### **Table of Contents**

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

The following table provides a summary of stock repurchases during the three months ended September 30, 2014 (in millions, except per share amounts):

			Total Number	Approximate
			of Shares	Dollar
	Total Number	Average	Purchased as	Value of Shares
Period	of Shares	Price Paid	Part of Publicly	that May Yet Be
	Purchased (1)	per Share (1)	Announced	Purchased
			Plans or	Under the Plans or
			Programs (2)	Programs (2)
July 1 - July 31, 2014	19.3	\$19.58	19.3	\$825.0
August 1 - August 31, 2014	20.3	\$23.47	20.2	\$350.0
September 1 - September 30, 2014 <sup>(3)</sup>	_	\$23.35		\$350.0
Total	39.6	\$21.57	39.5	

Amounts include repurchases under our stock repurchase programs and repurchases of our common stock for our employees in connection with net issuances of shares to satisfy minimum tax withholding obligations for the vesting of certain stock awards.

Shares were repurchased under our stock repurchase program approved by the Board in February 2014, which authorized us to purchase an aggregate of up to \$2.1 billion of our common stock. The \$2.1 billion authorization

<sup>(2)</sup> replaced the \$1.0 billion authorization approved by the Board in July 2013. In October 2014, the Board approved an increase of \$1.3 billion to our 2014 Stock Repurchase Program. Future share repurchases under our capital return plan will be subject to a review of the circumstances in place at that time and will be made from time to time in private transactions or open market purchases as permitted by securities laws and other legal requirements.

<sup>(3)</sup> The month ended September 30, 2014 includes an immaterial number of shares repurchased associated with minimum tax withholdings.

# Table of Contents

Item 6. Exhibits				
Exhibit Number	Description of Document			
10.1	Assignment and Assumption of Lease by and between Juniper Networks, Inc., as Assignor, and Google Inc., as Assignee, dated August 18, 2014 -1194 N. Mathilda Avenue, Sunnyvale, California (Building 1)*			
10.2	Assignment and Assumption of Lease by and between Juniper Networks, Inc., as Assignor, and Google Inc., as Assignee, dated August 18, 2014 -1184 N. Mathilda Avenue, Sunnyvale, California (Building 2)*			
10.3	Assignment and Assumption of Lease by and between Juniper Networks, Inc., as Assignor, and Google Inc., as Assignee, dated August 18, 2014 -1220 N. Mathilda Avenue, Sunnyvale, California (Building 3)*			
10.4	Consent to Assignment and Third Amendment to Lease by and between Juniper Networks, Inc., FSP-Sunnyvale Office Park, LLC and Google Inc., dated August 18, 2014 - 1194 N. Mathilda Avenue, Sunnyvale, California (Building 1)*			
10.5	Consent to Assignment and Second Amendment to Lease by and between Juniper Networks, Inc., FSP-Sunnyvale Office Park, LLC and Google Inc., dated August 18, 2014 - 1184 N. Mathilda Avenue, Sunnyvale, California (Building 2)*			
10.6	Consent to Assignment and Amendment No. 3 to Lease by and between Juniper Networks, Inc., FSP-Sunnyvale Office Park, LLC and Google Inc., dated August 18, 2014 - 1220 N. Mathilda Avenue, Sunnyvale, California (Building 3)*			
10.7	Sublease by and between Juniper Networks, Inc., as Subtenant, and Google Inc., as Sublandlord, dated August 18, 2014 - 1194 N. Mathilda Avenue, Sunnyvale, California (Building 1)*			
10.8	Consent to Sublease by and between Juniper Networks, Inc., FSP-Sunnyvale Office Park, LLC and Google Inc., dated August 18, 2014 - 1194 N. Mathilda Avenue, Sunnyvale, California (Building 1)*			
10.9	Juniper Networks, Inc. 2006 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended October 2, 2014*			
10.10	Form of Severance Agreement for Certain Officers first used in November 2014*			
12.1	Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges*			
31.1	Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934*			
31.2	Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934*			
32.1	Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350*			
32.2	Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350*			
101	The following materials from Juniper Network Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2014, formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language): (i) the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations (ii) the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive			

Income, (iii) the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets, and (iv) the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, and (v) Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements\*

101.INS XBRL Instance Document\*

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document\*

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document\*

101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document\*

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document\*

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document\*

<sup>\*</sup>Filed herewith.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### **SIGNATURES**

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant had duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Juniper Networks, Inc.

November 10, 2014 By: /s/ Robyn M. Denholm

Robyn M. Denholm

Executive Vice President, Chief Financial and

**Operations Officer** 

(Duly Authorized Officer and Principal Financial

Officer)

November 10, 2014 By: /s/ Terrance F. Spidell

Terrance F. Spidell

Vice President, Corporate Controller and Chief

**Accounting Officer** 

(Duly Authorized Officer and Principal Accounting

Officer)

# Table of Contents

Exhibit Index			
Exhibit Number	Description of Document		
10.1	Assignment and Assumption of Lease by and between Juniper Networks, Inc., as Assignor, and Google Inc., as Assignee, dated August 18, 2014 -1194 N. Mathilda Avenue, Sunnyvale, California (Building 1)*		
10.2	Assignment and Assumption of Lease by and between Juniper Networks, Inc., as Assignor, and Google Inc., as Assignee, dated August 18, 2014 -1184 N. Mathilda Avenue, Sunnyvale, California (Building 2)*		
10.3	Assignment and Assumption of Lease by and between Juniper Networks, Inc., as Assignor, and Google Inc., as Assignee, dated August 18, 2014 -1220 N. Mathilda Avenue, Sunnyvale, California (Building 3)*		
10.4	Consent to Assignment and Third Amendment to Lease by and between Juniper Networks, Inc., FSP-Sunnyvale Office Park, LLC and Google Inc., dated August 18, 2014 - 1194 N. Mathilda Avenue, Sunnyvale, California (Building 1)*		
10.5	Consent to Assignment and Second Amendment to Lease by and between Juniper Networks, Inc., FSP-Sunnyvale Office Park, LLC and Google Inc., dated August 18, 2014 - 1184 N. Mathilda Avenue, Sunnyvale, California (Building 2)*		
10.6	Consent to Assignment and Amendment No. 3 to Lease by and between Juniper Networks, Inc., FSP-Sunnyvale Office Park, LLC and Google Inc., dated August 18, 2014 - 1220 N. Mathilda Avenue, Sunnyvale, California (Building 3)*		
10.7	Sublease by and between Juniper Networks, Inc., as Subtenant, and Google Inc., as Sublandlord, dated August 18, 2014 - 1194 N. Mathilda Avenue, Sunnyvale, California (Building 1)*		
10.8	Consent to Sublease by and between Juniper Networks, Inc., FSP-Sunnyvale Office Park, LLC and Google Inc., dated August 18, 2014 - 1194 N. Mathilda Avenue, Sunnyvale, California (Building 1)*		
10.9	Juniper Networks, Inc. 2006 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended October 2, 2014*		
10.10	Form of Severance Agreement for Certain Officers first used in November 2014*		
12.1	Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges*		
31.1	Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934*		
31.2	Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934*		
32.1	Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350*		
32.2	Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350*		
101	The following materials from Juniper Network Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2014, formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language): (i) the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations (ii) the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive		

Income, (iii) the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets, and (iv) the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, and (v) Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements\*

- 101.INS XBRL Instance Document\*
- 101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document\*
- 101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document\*
- 101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document\*
- 101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document\*
- 101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document\* \*Filed herewith.